
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.  The 
Council will webcast the meeting. 

Please ask for: 
Graham Seal 

 
 
 

30 March 2018 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH 
COUNCIL to be held on Monday 9 April 2018 at 7.30 pm in the Council Chamber, 
Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 6AE. 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
Executive Director 
Public Protection, Planning and Governance 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence, if any. 
 

2.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as correct records the Minutes of the meetings held on 5 and 
21 February 2018 (previously circulated). 
 

3.   PETITIONS  
 

 The Mayor will receive petitions (limited to the first three petitions presented). 
 

4.   QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 

 A period of thirty minutes will be made available for questions to be put by 
Members of the public to Members of the Cabinet on matters for which the 
Council has a responsibility or which affect the Borough. 
 

Public Document Pack



5.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-
disclosable pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items 
on the Agenda. 
 

6.   ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

 To receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader of the Council, Member 
of the Cabinet or the Head of Paid Service. 
 

7.   QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS (Pages 5 - 6) 
 

 For a period of up to thirty minutes, a Member of the Council who has given prior 
notice in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 45, may ask (a) the Mayor, (b) 
the Leader of the Council or (c) a Member of the Cabinet a question on any 
matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the 
Borough. 
 
Details of questions received in accordance with Procedure Rule 45 will be 
tabled at the meeting.  A Member asking a question may ask, without giving 
notice, one supplementary question of the Member to whom the first question 
was asked.  The supplementary question must arise directly out of the reply. 
 

8.   MATTERS ARISING FROM THE CABINET  
 

 To consider recommendations from the meetings of the Cabinet on 6 March and 
3 April 2018:- 
 

 
6 MARCH 2018 

 

(a)    Transfer of Building Control Functions to Three Rivers District Council 
(Pages 7 - 20) 
 

(b)    Tenancy Policy and Flexible Tenancy Policy (Pages 21 - 60) 
 

3 APRIL 2018 
 

(c)    Welwyn Hatfield Business Plan 2018-21 (Pages 61 - 68) 
 

9.   APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES  
 

 (1) The Leader of the Council will make a nomination for the appointment of a 
Member to the Development Management Committee in place of Councillor 
I.Dean. 

 
(2) The Leader of the Liberal Democrat Group will make a nomination for the 

appointment of a Member to the Social Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
in place of Councillor T.Bailey. 

 



10.   NOTICES OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 50  
 

 To consider notices of motions submitted under Procedure Rule 50 in such order 
as the Mayor shall direct. Details of motions received by the deadline of 12noon 
on 3 April 2018 will be circulated separately. 
 

11.   URGENT MATTERS  
 

 To consider any matters of urgency subject to the agreement of the Mayor in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 13(r). 
 

 
Circulation: The Mayor and Members of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Executive Board 
Press and Public (except Part II Items) 

 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Graham 
Seal, Governance Services Unit on 01707 357444 or email – g.seal@welhat.gov.uk / 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:g.seal@welhat.gov.uk
mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Part I 
Item No: 7 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL 
COUNCIL MEETING – 9 APRIL 2018 
 
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 45 QUESTIONS – QUESTIONS BY 
MEMBERS  
 
Notice of the following question has been received in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule No 45:- 
 
1. Question to the Leader from Councillor Helen Beckett 
  

“During the Council Tax debate a Conservative Councillor said that residents 
should be “very grateful“ to you for the services you have provided.  
  
In this Council’s 2017-2018 business plan you have failed on 2 out of your 4 
targets- namely keeping our streets clean and improving recycling rates.  
  
Would you say that this is a record to be proud of and one that the residents 
should feel “very grateful” for?” 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Item No: 8(a) 
For Decision 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 9 APRIL 2018 
 

Recommendation from the Cabinet on 6 March 2018:- 
 

106.1 
 

Transfer of Building Control Functions to Three Rivers District Council 
 
The Cabinet considered the further work undertaken on the joint 
outsourcing project and the next steps to be taken to finalise the project. 
 
In July 2015 the Cabinet received a report setting out the challenges 
facing building control and it was agreed that the Council should explore 
the principle of transferring functions into a Hertfordshire joint 
arrangement. 
 
In August 2016 the Cabinet received a report setting out the business 
case and financial, legal and risk implications of a joint service.  It agreed 
to form a holding company and two subsidiary companies and to transfer 
delegable building control functions to these companies.  It also confirmed 
that non-delegable functions would be transferred to one of the authorities 
in the joint service. 
 
As a result the companies were formed and staff from the seven 
participating authorities including this Council were TUPE transferred into 
them in August 2016. 
 
It was now confirmed that Three Rivers District Council would be the 
company LA1 to whom non-delegable functions would be transferred. 
 
Contrary to the original proposal, it had been decided that LA1 would not 
employ a qualified building surveyor to make decisions, but would apply 
checks and balances and auditing arrangements to give proper 
consideration to each decision and ensure quality control was maintained.  
This recognised the direction of travel established by Dame Judith 
Hackitt’s interim report into the Grenfell tragedy. 
 
Three Rivers District Council would employ a contract manager to 
oversee the building control companies and each participating authority 
would nominate a representative to sit on a commissioning panel to 
oversee the contract manager and building control companies. 
 
This Council would pay about £28,000 per year for statutory functions and 
lead authority costs.  Other functions such as events safety advice could 
be procured at an hourly rate. 

 
Legislation indicated that all fees should as nearly as possible equate to 
the costs of providing the service.  Fees would be proposed by the 
building control company and confirmed by LA1 and the commissioning 
panel. 

 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8a



It was considered that these arrangements would create a robust, 
professional and resilient building control service and ensure structural, 
electrical and fire safety for the Borough’s residents and business. 
 
The Cabinet agreed:- 
 

(1) That the Council’s statutory building control functions (as set 
out in Appendix A to the report) be transferred to Three 
Rivers District Council so that it could carry out the duties and 
responsibilities of LA1 as described in the report on behalf of 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council. 

 
(2) That the Executive Director (Public Protection, Planning and 

Governance) be given delegated authority to authorise the 
Services Agreement and Inter-Authority Agreement referred 
to in the report using the power in Section 5(2)(a) of the Local 
Authorities (Arrangements for Discharge of Functions) 
(England) Regulations 2012 to transfer the functions listed in 
Appendix A to the report to Three Rivers District Council. 

 
(3) That the Head of Public Health and Protection be appointed 

as the Council’s “Commissioning Panel Representative” as 
part of the Commissioning Panel established in accordance 
with the Services Agreement and Inter-Authority Agreement.  

 
(4) That delegated authority be given to the Head of Public 

Health and Protection, in consultation with the Executive 
Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance), to 
appoint a “Deputy Commissioning Panel Representative” to 
attend the Commissioning Panel in the event of the Panel 
representative’s absence. 

 
(5) That consideration be given to any consequential revisions to 

be made to the Council’s Constitution and schemes of 
delegation with recommendations made to the Council for 
adoption of these revisions. 

 
The Cabinet RECOMMENDS the Council to give delegated authority to 
the Head of Public Health and Protection, in consultation with the 
Executive Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) as 
the Council’s Section 151 Officer and Executive Member (Resources), to 
negotiate and agree fees for both statutory and non-statutory building 
control activities, in negotiation with other members of the Commissioning 
Panel, Three Rivers District Council acting as LA1 and Hertfordshire 
Building Control Ltd. 
 

 

Page 8



Part I 
Item No: 7(a)  
Main author: Nick Long 
Executive Member: Cllr Mandy Perkins 
All wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET – 6 MARCH 2018 
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING AND 
GOVERNANCE) 
 
TRANSFER OF BUILDING CONTROL FUNCTIONS TO THREE RIVERS DISTRICT 
COUNCIL  
 
1 Executive Summary 

 
1.1 This report updates members on the further work undertaken in connection with 

the joint building control outsourcing project (“the project”) and asks Cabinet to 
consider and agree the next steps which need to be taken in order to finalise the 
project.   
 

2 Recommendations 
 
2.1 For the Cabinet to note the work to-date, and to consider the proposals set out in 

this report, and subject to Cabinet consideration, to agree:   
 
a) To transfer the Council’s statutory building control functions (as set out in 
Appendix A) to Three Rivers District Council so that they can carry out the duties 
and responsibilities of LA1 as described in this report, on behalf of Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough Council. 
 
b) That the Executive Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) be 
given delegated authority to authorise the Services Agreement and Inter-
Authority Agreement referred to in this report using the power in Section 5(2)(a) 
of the Local Authorities (Arrangements for Discharge of Functions) (England) 
Regulations 2012 to transfer the functions listed in Appendix A to Three Rivers 
District Council. 
 
c) That the Head of Public Health and Protection is appointed as the Council’s 
“Commissioning Panel Representative” as part of the Commissioning Panel 
established in accordance with the Services Agreement and Inter-Authority 
Agreement.  
 
d) That delegated authority is given to the Head of Public Health and Protection 
in consultation with the Executive Director (Public Protection, Planning and 
Governance) to appoint a “Deputy Commissioning Panel Representative” to 
attend the Commissioning Panel in the event of the Commissioning Panel 
Representative’s absence. 
 
e) That the Head of Public Health and Protection, in consultation with the 
Executive Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) as the 
Council’s Section 151 Officer and Executive Member for Resources to have 
delegated authority to negotiate and agree fees for both statutory and non-
statutory building control activities, in negotiation with other members of the 

Page 9



Commissioning Panel, Three Rivers District Council acting as LA1 and 
Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd. 
 
f) That consideration is given to any consequential revisions to be made to the 
Council’s Constitution and schemes of delegation with recommendations made 
to Council for adoption of these revisions. 
 

3 Explanation 
 

3.1 The purpose of building control is to ensure buildings and structures within the 
borough are built to safe standards and there are also particular enforcement 
powers available to deal with dangerous structures. 
 

3.2 The building control functions carried out by District and Borough Local 
Authorities may be divided into non delegable and delegable functions. Those 
functions which are non-delegable may only be carried out by a Local Authority, 
but a Local Authority may choose to ask a private sector entity to carry out 
delegable functions on its behalf. In the case of the non-delegable functions, it is 
however lawful for one Local Authority to transfer some or all of these powers to 
another Local Authority to exercise these functions.   
 

3.3 In July 2015, the Cabinet received an exempt report which set out the challenges 
facing the Council’s current building control team.  These included private sector 
competition and the loss of market share to approved inspectors, an ageing staff 
profile, the lower efficiency and effectiveness of small teams and a lack of 
resilience due to recruitment and retention difficulties.  Cabinet agreed that 
Welwyn Hatfield Council should explore the principle of transferring its building 
control services into a Hertfordshire joint arrangement. 
 

3.4 In August 2016, Cabinet received a further exempt report which set out a 
business case and the financial, legal and risk implications of a joint service with 
other boroughs/districts in Hertfordshire.  Having regard to this business case 
Cabinet agreed with the proposal to form a holding company and two subsidiary 
companies to provide this service and to transfer the Council’s delegable building 
control functions into these companies.  Cabinet also confirmed that the 
remaining non delegable statutory building control functions could be provided by 
one of the participating local authorities (termed “LA1”) within the joint service. 
 

3.5 For clarity, a holding company and two subsidiary companies have now been 
incorporated:  
 
Broste Rivers Ltd as the holding company; 
 
Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd (formerly LA7) which undertakes delegable 
fee-earning but non-profit-making work such as site inspections and plan 
checking and non-fee-earning work such as dangerous structures within the joint 
administrative area; 

 
The Building Control (Hertfordshire) Company Ltd (formerly H7) which can act 
like an approved inspector outside of the joint administrative area.   
 

3.6 Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd is now fully operational.  Staff were transferred 
from their original local authorities into the company in August 2016 and old IT 
systems have been replaced by a new cloud-based system that allows staff to 

Page 10



work from a variety of office spaces, at home and on-the-road.  The new IT 
system also makes it possible for the seven co-operating authorities to now 
consolidate their statutory functions with one participating authority. 
 

3.7 The business case explained the intention that one local authority would, by 
agreement, be defined as “LA1” to undertake non-delegable functions such as 
setting fees, making of any approvals, conditional approvals or rejection 
decisions, issuing of any certificates, consultation with statutory agencies, the 
keeping of statutory registers in respect of initial notices and the enforcement of 
unauthorised works, dangerous structures and demolitions.  
 

3.8 However, with the passage of time and further development of the business 
case, there are a few differences between the original business case and what 
Cabinet are now asked to consider. These may be summarised as:  
 
a) it has been confirmed that Three Rivers District Council intends to be “LA1” 
and this means our statutory powers would be transferred to them and they will 
be responsible for the sign-off and issue of statutory notices, certificates and 
other formal decisions (so called “competent functions”) on behalf of all seven co-
operating authorities and also to manage the procedure for dangerous structures. 
 
b) the mechanism of transfer of powers has been clarified, and will involve using 
the powers explained in the legal implications section of this report. 
 
c) the original proposal of retaining a qualified building surveyor at LA1 to 
carryout “sign-offs” and other competent functions has been revised. Instead it is 
now proposed to employ a non building control qualified individual to carry out 
such “sign offs” but with a series of effective checks and balances to ensure 
quality control is maintained. This person will be employed by Three Rivers 
District Council. The managing director of Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd has 
confirmed that they recognise the direction of travel for building control quality 
following Dame Judith Hackitt’s interim report into the Grenfell tragedy. The main 
reason for not employing a qualified individual within LA1 is to ensure that ‘doing’ 
functions and ‘monitoring’ functions are properly delineated. Surveyors within the 
company will make a recommendation to LA1 officers, who then sign off the 
work, checking that the surveyor was qualified to make that recommendation and 
that the work was commensurate with their level of experience. Furthermore, the 
company has created an internal audit post to ensure adherence to an ISO 9001 
quality process, in anticipation of the transfer of functions to Three Rivers District 
Council. The LA1 signatory will be the Head of Planning, and he/she will only 
sign off work when all of the above is satisfied. This is all explained to be much 
stronger than the previous arrangements in most councils, where surveyors were 
qualified but far less overview and scrutiny of their decision-making was in place.  

  
d) Three Rivers District Council will employee a contract manager who will be 
responsible for carrying out the functions of the contract manager described in 
the Services Agreement and Inter-Authority Agreement and will act as lead 
contract manager and monitor the performance of Hertfordshire Building Control 
Ltd. 
 
e) a Commissioning Panel made up of representatives from all the councils who 
have transferred powers to Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd and Three Rivers 
District Council will be formed and will be responsible for ensuring the contract 
manager performs within the terms of the agreements. 

Page 11



 
f) a charging regime will be agreed for certain functions, previously performed by 
the Council’s building control officers (Appendix B) 
 
g) a revised Services Agreement and Inter-Authority Agreement setting out how 
the shared building control service will operate 
 
h) a revised set of resultant risks, as set out in this report.  
 

3.9 As a result, Cabinet are now asked to consider the proposals and if in agreement 
recommend that the Council’s statutory building control functions which cannot 
be lawfully be delegated to either of the subsidiary private companies should be 
transferred to Three Rivers District Council, who will act as LA1 and for the 
functions to be carried out in accordance with the Services Agreement and Inter-
authority Agreement. 
 

4 Legal Implications 
 

4.1 Section 91 of the Building Act 1984 (the Act) states that local authorities (defined 
as District and Borough councils) are responsible for carrying into effect the 
requirements of the Act within their areas.   
 

4.2 Local authorities are required to provide ‘chargeable functions’ and ‘chargeable 
advice’ in accordance with Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010.  
Section 5 defines that these include the passing or rejection of plans of proposed 
building works, the inspection of building work for which plans have been 
deposited and the consideration of building notices given to the local authority or 
reverted from an approved inspector.  Section 6(3) asserts that the overriding 
objective is that the income derived from performing such functions and advice 
as nearly as possible equates to the costs incurred from doing so. 
 

4.3 Trowers and Hamlins acted as legal advisors to the cross council project board 
during the formation of the joint service agreements.  They advised that the 
transfer of statutory functions from each co-operating local authority to Three 
Rivers District Council acting as LA1 should take place under Section 5(2)(a) of 
the Local Authorities (Arrangements for Discharge of Functions) (England) 
Regulations 2012. Regulation 5 deals with the discharge of an executive’s 
functions by another relevant authority or another relevant executive and section 
(2)(a) allows a person with power to make such arrangements to discharge 
functions which are the responsibility of this Council’s executive (namely building 
control) to another relevant authority’s executive (namely Three Rivers District 
Council). 
 
Inter-Authority Agreement 

4.4 It is intended that the relationship between the seven co-operating authorities 
and Three Rivers District Council acting as LA1 will be informed by an Inter-
Authority Agreement. The Agreement sets out a number of collaborating 
principles such as a spirit of mutual cooperation, equality of treatment, 
accountable and transparent decision-making and effective, efficient and 
economical performance.  It also contains sections relating to payments, 
intellectual property, confidentiality, freedom of information, data protection, 
dispute resolution and termination. 
 

Page 12



4.5 It is proposed that an authorised individual at Three Rivers District Council acting 
as LA1 will be the lead contract manager with Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd 
on behalf of the seven authorities. 
 

4.6 It is proposed that one representative from each of the seven authorities will act 
as a representative and together they will form a Commissioning Panel to 
oversee the work of the lead contract manager.  Chairmanship of the 
Commissioning Panel will rotate by Local Authority on a yearly basis in 
ascending alphabetical order. 
 

4.7 It is proposed that the Agreement be in place for a minimum period of 36 months.  
After that date the co-operating authorities may agree to sign another agreement 
with Three Rivers District Council to act as LA1 or for any other co-operating 
authority that may wish to do so to act as LA1. 
 
Services Agreement 
 

4.8 It is intended that the relationship between Three Rivers District Council acting as 
LA1 and Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd will be informed by a Services 
Agreement. This states that Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd will supply the co-
operating local authorities with a comprehensive, pro-active and professional 
service.  It also contains sections relating to health and safety, equality and 
diversity, human rights, equipment, licences, confidentiality, freedom of 
information, data protection, anti-bribery and corruption, insurance, liability and 
termination. 
 

4.9 The Agreement sets out the expected service levels of the company in respect of 
performance, indicators, workloads, financial monitoring, site inspections, records 
and dangerous structures attendance. In particular it is stated that Hertfordshire 
Building Control Ltd will achieve performance standards in the latest edition of 
the DCLG Building Control Performance Standards Guide and will adhere to the 
Local Authority Building Control (LABC) Code of Conduct at all times. There is 
also an ongoing obligation to identify new or potential improvements in 
accordance with the Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010. 
 

4.10 The Agreement states that Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd will provide the LA1 
and the Commissioning Panel with periodic performance reports.  It will also 
immediately notify of any service failures, provide a remediation plan, carry out 
the actions in that plan and deploy resources and take all necessary action to 
rectify or prevent the failure from recurring. 
 

5 Financial Implications 
 

5.1 The Council loaned Broste Rivers Ltd £107,000 to establish itself and its 
subsidiary companies.  Interest is being repaid at 4%, and the principal amount is 
expected to be repaid in instalments in future years. 
 

5.2 From April 2018, the Council will be paying around £28,000 per annum towards 
the costs of the statutory functions and the lead authority costs.  Of this, £15,000 
will be towards the cost of running statutory services, including maintaining a list 
of competent persons, an out-of-hours dangerous structures service, assessing, 
authorising and responding to initial notices. The remaining £13,000 will be a 
contribution towards the costs of LA1 as the lead authority. It should be noted 

Page 13



that the costs have been apportioned equally between all seven participating 
authorities.  
 

5.3 It should be noted that Hertfordshire Building Control service is currently based at 
Campus West Tower, from which the Council is receiving a market rent. They 
have expressed a desire to expand their office space and is currently in 
discussion with the Council, therefore it is possible that the rental income to the 
council may increase as a result.  
 

5.4 The service prior to the creation of the company, excluding internal charges, 
generated around £10,000 per annum for the Council.  
 

5.5 This arrangement has increased resilience for the Council, which had an aging 
workforce prior to this arrangement coming into force. This in turn has mitigated 
the risk of significant agency spend on the Council’s Building Control functions, 
which other local authorities had already seen being incurred prior to this 
arrangement.  

5.6 Other statutory Building Control Services will be chargeable on a case-by-case 
basis as set out in Appendix B, for which the Council has retained a budget 
within building control to fund these works.   
 
Fee Setting 
 

5.7 In terms of fee setting, the Services Agreement states that fees should as nearly 
as possible equate to the costs of providing the service. It is proposed that 
Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd will prepare a Joint Services Authority 
Agreement, to be screened by LA1 and then by the Commissioning Panel. 
 

5.8 The Agreement will set out hourly fees for:  
 
1) chargeable functions and chargeable advice as defined by the Building (Local 
Authority Charges) Regulations 2010, to be paid by service users. 

 
2) ‘zero chargeable transaction services’ defined in the Building (Local Authority 
Charges) Regulations 2010 as the first hour of chargeable advice and 
chargeable functions or chargeable advice in respect of building work solely for 
disabled persons, to be paid by the relevant local authority. 
 
3) an out-of-hours emergency dangerous structure service, to be paid for by each 
local authority. 

 
 4) services that individual cooperating authorities may wish to procure from 

Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd such as events safety, fire safety audits, 
energy audits and emergency planning. 
 

5.9 These fees will be based on the costs incurred by Hertfordshire Building Control 
Ltd in carrying out delegable functions and the costs incurred by Three Rivers 
District Council acting as LA1 in carrying out statutory functions.  Hertfordshire 
Building Control Ltd is planning to unify the fees across a number of authority 
areas and this report is seeking delegated authority to negotiate and agree the 
fees going forward. 
 
 

 

Page 14



 
6 Risk Management Implications 

 
6.1 The purpose of building control is to ensure that national building regulations 

such as structural, electrical and fire safety are complied with to keep the public 
safe.    
 

6.2 Post the tragic Grenfell Tower fire, the Government has asked Dame Judith 
Hackitt to provide an independent review1 to “assess the effectiveness of current 
building and fire safety regulations and related compliance and enforcement 
issues, with a focus on multi occupancy high rise residential buildings”. The 
Review’s 2 key priorities are to develop a more robust regulatory system for the 
future and provide further assurance to residents that the buildings they live in 
are safe and remain safe. While the Review will cover the regulatory system for 
all buildings, it will have a specific focus on multi occupancy high rise residential 
buildings. Obviously the outcome of this review, which is at yet unknown, may be 
relevant to the way building control regulation works in future.  
 

6.3 All of the professional building control surveyors within the joint service are 
employed by Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd (LA7).  It is these officers who will 
assess applications against national regulations to ensure that buildings are safe, 
however the strict legal position is that as non-delegable functions cannot be 
provided by a private company, these officers cannot “sign off” such applications.  
 

6.4 As noted in 3.8(c) above, the business case appended to the August 2016 
Cabinet report originally proposed that LA1 should be staffed by a building 
control professional who will be responsible for issuing legal “sign off” certificates. 
However it is now proposed that Three Rivers District Council do not intend to 
employ any professionally qualified building control surveyors to act as LA1 or 
within the Commissioning Panel. The emphasis in the Services Agreement and 
Inter-Authority Agreement is instead on policies and procedures to ensure that 
the advice provided by Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd is professional and 
robust, in order that non-specialised officers within LA1 who have been given the 
legal responsibility are reassured they can signed it off. This is important as the 
call for evidence for the Hackitt Review2 described above includes investigating 
the competencies, qualifications, training, accreditation and resourcing of those 
who are required to comply with or enforce the building regulations. Furthermore 
legal advice to the project board from Trowers and Hamlins states that exercise 
of the non-delegable functions must involve some active consideration of the 
decision, not just pure rubber stamping. The latest proposals from Three Rivers 
District Council acting as LA1 are that all decisions will be signed off by their 
Head of Regulatory Services. Officers intend to devise a risk matrix process 
whereby more complex building control applications will undergo a more complex 
process of scrutiny. They also intend to invite SIAS3 and LABC4 to audit these 
proposed processes and engage with the HSE5 to seek their views as to 
robustness. As this is a clear departure from the previous method of operation 
and the proposed original business case and means that “sign off” certificates 

                                                           
1
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/independent-review-of-building-regulations-and-fire-safety-

terms-of-reference 
2
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/644139/The_call_for_evide
nce_for_the_independent_Review_of_Building_Regulations_and_Fire_Safety.pdf 
3
 Shared Internal Audit Service 

4
 Local Authority Building Control  

5
 Health and Safety Executive  

Page 15



issued on behalf of this Council will be issued by an officer who is not a qualified 
building control surveyor, Cabinet are asked to specifically note this as part of 
their decision-making. 
 

6.5 The Services Agreement allows for audits of Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd’s 
premises, personnel and relevant records as may reasonably be required. 
 

6.6 It is intended that Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd will carry out the practical 
side of enforcement for unauthorised works, dangerous structures and 
demolitions and operate an out-of-hours emergency dangerous structure 
services on behalf of the cooperating authorities, so far as the law allows, with 
any sign off decisions being made by Three Rivers District Council. However, the 
fees for such work arising within the Borough will be charged to this Council. It 
then will be a matter for this Council to seek to reclaim such costs from the land 
or property owner, as such action cannot be initiated by a third party on behalf of 
the lead party. In some circumstances there is a risk that this Council may fail to 
reclaim such costs and must therefore be prepared to write-off such debt.   
 

6.7 Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd has been granted admitted body status by the 
pensions authority to enable all existing employees to continue to contribute to 
the local government pension scheme. Accordingly, this Council will continue to 
be responsible for any existing pension strain for each qualifying employee up 
until the point of transfer and will be responsible for meeting any deficits at the 
point of each member of staff retiring. The Council is required to indemnify the 
pensions authority on this basis. 
 

6.8 A significant amount of work has been undertaken in connection with this project 
with the aim achieving a more resilient, responsive and cost effective building 
control service across the partner authorities. Whilst the proposals set out in this 
report do present some risks, especially in light to the inability to delegate all 
functions to a private company, there is also a risk that to exit from the project at 
this stage would not result in an equally more resilient, response or cost effective 
service for the Borough.  
 

7 Security and Terrorism Implications 
 

7.1 There are no specific security or terrorism implications associated with this 
report, however the out-of-hours service provided by building control officers for 
dangerous structures is a valued part of the emergency response across 
Hertfordshire.  
 

8 Procurement Implications 
 

8.1 The agreements commit the Council to obtaining building control services in 
accordance with the agreements. If the Council requires a service which is in the 
scope of additional charges (Appendix B) then the agreement commits the 
council to obtaining that service from the building control company. So long as 
the companies remain ‘Teckal’ compliant (in summary, wholly controlled by the 
owner councils, under the direction of the owner councils and where at least 80% 
of company turnover is for its owner councils) then an exemption can be claimed 
against procuring these services externally. 
 

9 Climate Change Implications 
 

Page 16



9.1 There are no specific climate change implications associated with this report, 
although it should be acknowledged that national building regulations cover the 
efficient use of energy and water. 
 

10 Link to Corporate Priorities 
 

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to Priority 1 “to maintain a safe and healthy 
community” and is linked to statutory provisions under building control legislation.  
 

11 Equalities and Diversity 
 

11.1 It is understood that equality impacts would have been considered as part of the 
original business case and that no differential impacts were identified. It should 
be noted that building control has a role in connection with the enforcement of 
building regulations regarding disabled access. 

  
Nick Long 
Executive Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance)  
February 2018 
 
Appendices: 
 
A. Schedule of powers to be transferred 
B. Functions which will be provided at chargeable hourly rate  
 
Background Papers: 
 
Joint Building Control Service, Cabinet 7 July 2015 (restricted) 
Joint Building Control Service, Cabinet 2 August 2016 (restricted) 
 
 
  

Page 17



APPENDIX A 
 
The Local Authorities (Arrangements for Discharge of Functions) (England) Regulations 
2012 Section 5(2)(a) 
 
Functions to be transferred from Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council to Three Rivers 
District Council 
 

Function  Relevant statutory provision  

Receiving applications submitted in 
respect of the Building Regulations 2010 

Building Act 1984 
Building Regulations 2010 

Processing, passing, rejecting full plans 
applications within statutory timescales 

Section 16 of Building Act 1984 
Section 5(1)(a) Building Regulations 2010 

Advising on the viability of the building 
notice application 

 

Undertaking investigations and advising 
in respect of applications for a 
Regularisation Certificate 

Section 5(1)(b) Building Regulations 2010 

Undertaking site inspections to ensure 
regulatory compliance 

Section 5(1)(b) Building Regulations 2010 

Recommending the issuing of statutory 
notices relating to applications and site 
visits 

 

Recommending enforcement action 
through the statutory process 

Section 35 Building Act 1984 

Recommending outcomes relating to 
initial notices received from Approved 
Inspectors 

Section 5(1)(e) Building Regulations 2010 

Retaining a repository of notifications 
from people on the competent person 
scheme 

Schedule 1 Building Regulations 
(Amendment) 2015 

Dangerous structures, including out-of-
hours provision 

Section 76-83 Building Act 1984 

Demolitions Section 76-83 Building Act 1984 

Fix charges Section 3(1) Building Regulations 2010 

Requirement to consult fire authority Section 15 Building Act 1984 

Requirement to consult water authority Section 18 Building Act 1984 

Powers of entry Section 95 Building Act 1984 

Duties of local authority, including 
keeping a register of information and 
documents 

Section 91-94 Building Act 1984 

 
  

Page 18



APPENDIX B  
 
As set out in the Services Agreement, all other delegable building control services which 
may be procured from Hertfordshire Building Control Ltd directly, including but not 
limited to: 
 
(a) P2 Housing returns to CLG 
 
(b) The Party Wall etc Act (1996) 
 
(c) Safety at sports grounds 
 
(d) Events safety 
 
(e) Monitoring planning conditions 
 
(f) Local land searches 
 
(g) High hedges 
 
(h) Street naming and numbering 
 
(i) Fire safety audits 
 
(j) Access audits 
 
(k) Energy audits 
 
(l) Emergency planning 
 
(m) Disabled facilities grant work 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Item No: 8(b) 
For Decision 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 9 APRIL 2018 
 

Recommendation from the Cabinet on 6 March 2018:- 
 

106.2 Tenancy Policy and Flexible Tenancy Policy (Forward Plan Reference 
FP829) 
 
The Cabinet considered a recommendation from the meeting of the 
Cabinet Housing Panel on 22 January 2018 on approval of a revised 
policy and procedure. 
 
This item was being brought back to the Cabinet after the decision to 
approve the policy was deferred at the Special Council meeting on 
21 February 2018 (Minute 59.2 refers). The decision was deferred 
pending clarification on whether any future changes to procedures in 
relation to this policy would need to be referred back to the Cabinet 
Housing Panel for approval. 
 
The nature of the decision which the Cabinet was being asked to make in 
respect of this Policy, prior to the policy being re-presented to the Council 
for approval was clarified. 
 
The Cabinet Housing Panel had considered an update of the Council’s 
Tenancy Policy which included the removal of references to the Housing 
Trust and also aligned the policy with the Tenancy Strategy which was 
published in 2013.  
 
The previous tenancy policy had been approved in April 2012 by the 
Housing Trust’s Board. 
 
The Council had been granting five year flexible term tenancies since 
November 2013 and the review process for these had been due to 
commence in November 2017.  Now that this process was about to 
commence on current tenancies, the functional details of the review 
process had been identified, including reporting, and had been updated in 
a new, separate, procedural document to provide better guidance for staff 
who would be carrying out the reviews. 
 
There were no changes in the updated policy to the grounds for refusing 
to renew a flexible tenancy at the end of the five year term.  These were 
the same as already approved in April 2012. 
 
The legally mandated procedural guidance for tenants who wished to 
seek a review of a decision not to renew a flexible tenancy was now also 
in a separate document that could be issued to tenants separately on 
request. 
 
The changes made to the original Tenancy Policy, dated April 2012 were 
identified. 

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8b



It was agreed that any future amendments to the flexible tenancy review 
procedure made in line with any future legal changes or changes in 
procedure should be brought back to the Cabinet Housing Panel.   
 
Following discussion the Panel had agreed that further information on the 
assessment of financial assessment, including trigger points relating to 
income levels, savings, investments or equity be brought to a future 
meeting of the Panel. 
 
The Cabinet RECOMMENDS that the revised Tenancy policy be 
recommended for adoption by the Council. 

 

Page 22



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Annette Benson  
Executive Member: Mandy Perkins 
All Wards 

 
 
 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 9 APRIL 2018 
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES) 

TENANCY POLICY AND FLEXIBLE TENANCY PROCEDURE 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek authority to update the council’s Tenancy 
Policy to remove references to the Housing Trust and also to align the policy with 
the Tenancy Strategy which was published in 2013. 

1.2 The previous tenancy policy was approved in April 2012 by the Trust’s board. 

1.3 The council has been granting five year flexible term tenancies since November 
2013 and the review process for these commenced in November 2017. Now that 
this process has commenced on current tenancies, the functional details of the 
review process have been identified, including reporting, and have been updated 
in a new procedural document to provide better guidance for staff who will be 
carrying out these reviews 

1.4 There are no changes in the updated policy to the grounds for refusing to renew 
a flexible tenancy at the end of the five year term. These are the same as already 
approved in April 2012. 

1.5 Appendix 1 shows the current Tenancy Policy of 2012. 

1.6 Appendix 2 shows the updated Tenancy Policy of 2017. 

1.7 Appendix 3 shows the new review procedure guide for staff. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That the revised policy is approved for adoption by Council as recommended by 
Cabinet. 

2.2 Agrees that any proposed changes to procedures relating to this policy will be 
referred back to Cabinet Housing Panel before being implemented. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 The Tenancy Policy sets out the council’s own policy regarding the type of 
tenancies to be issued in its housing stock. This includes the issuing of flexible 
tenancies to the majority of new tenants other than the five exempt groups: 

1) People moving into sheltered housing. 

2) People moving into a home specifically adapted for their needs.  

Page 23



- 2 - 

3) Existing tenants who are moving to a smaller home (downsizing). 

4) Existing tenants who already have a secure tenancy granted before    
01 April 2012 and who transfer to another council home. 

5) Existing tenants who already have a secure tenancy granted before    
01 April 2012 and move via mutual exchange to a property with a 
flexible tenancy already in place. 

3.2 Flexible term tenancies enable the council to tackle under-occupation by 
ensuring that households whose flexible term is coming to an end are adequately 
housed based on their need. There is a presumption that the vast majority of 
tenancies will be renewed. 

3.3 The review of flexible tenancies starts in the last year of the 5 year tenancy 
period, this process is clearly set out in the procedural guidance that will be used 
by staff. 

3.4 The Tenancy Policy supports the council’s corporate priority “Meet the Borough’s 
Housing Need” and allows the council to effectively manage the borough’s 
housing stock. 

3.5 Since November 2013 we have issued the following tenancies: 

Tenancy type Number 

Secure tenancies, general needs stock (transfers) 464 

Secure tenancies, sheltered accommodation (lettings & transfers) 499 

Secure tenancies by mutual exchange 349 

Five year flexible tenancies by mutual exchange 18 

Five year flexible tenancies, general needs stock (lettings) 930 

TOTAL 2260 

 

3.6 There are 58 tenancies which need to be reviewed in the period November 2017 
to May 2018. We are writing to each tenant to advise them of the review process 
based on the current tenancy policy and will be carrying out the review once the 
updated policy has been approved. 

3.7 The main focus of this policy review was to ensure that the Tenancy Policy was 
more consistent and aligned to the Tenancy Strategy and other associated 
policies. 

What has been updated / changed: 

3.8 When the Tenancy Policy was agreed in 2013, it referred to the Housing Trust as 
carrying out the review processes.  All references to the Trust have now been 
removed. (See existing policy, as appended) 

3.9 The revised policy has also been updated to take out procedural detail from the 
current policy as this is not considered appropriate for a policy document. This 
information has then been developed into a procedural document as appended.  

3.10 The legally mandated procedural guidance for tenants who wish to seek a review 
of a decision not to renew a flexible tenancy is now also in a separate document 
that can be issued to tenants separately on request. (See review procedure, as 
appended) 

Page 24



- 3 - 

3.11 The Allocations Policy included information on offering a two year flexible 
tenancy in cases where a tenant is asked to move to smaller accommodation, 
but where the tenant is unable to find this accommodation before the end of the 
five year term. This has now been included in the Tenancy Policy. 

Implications 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 Under the Localism Act 2011 every local authority must publish a Tenancy 
Strategy in place by January 2013.  The Tenancy Policy is required to guide staff 
and inform the public on what type of tenancies are granted in the council’s own 
housing stock.  The Tenancy Policy must be aligned to the Tenancy Strategy.  

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 There are no financial implications as a result of this policy review as the 
processes will be carried out by existing staff as part of their day to day activities. 

6 Risk Management Implications 

The risks related to this proposal are: 

6.1 Legal compliance and reputational risk - The revised policy is clearer and there is 
greater transparency for both staff and tenants and therefore this should mitigate 
any risks for the council. 

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 None 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 None 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 None 

10 Link to Corporate Priorities 

10.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority “Meet the 
Borough’s Housing Need” and specifically to the requirement to effectively 
manage the borough’s housing stock. 

11 Equality and Diversity 

11.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been carried out in connection with the 
proposals that are set out in this report.   

11.2 No negative impact was identified on any of the protected groups under 
equalities legislation. 

 
 
 

Page 25



- 4 - 

Name of author Annette Benson / Stuart Pearson 
Title Housing Systems Consultant / Head of Housing Operations 
Date 24 January 2018 
 
 
 
Background papers to be listed (if applicable)   

Appendix 1 - Current Tenancy Policy 

Appendix 2 - Updated Tenancy Policy 

Appendix 3 - Flexible Tenancy Review Procedure 

 

Page 26



1 

Tenancy Policy 

1. Date of policy: April 2012

2. Policy Review date: Annual

3. Responsibility: Director of Operations

4. Scope of Policy

4.1 Welwyn Hatfield Community Housing Trust (the managing agent) delivers housing and 
related services on behalf of Welwyn Hatfield Council (the landlord).  This Policy sets out 
which tenancies Welwyn Hatfield Community Housing Trust, working on behalf of 
Welwyn Hatfield Council, will offer to new council tenants from 1 July 2013 onwards.   

4.2 This Policy sets out how flexible tenancies will be used, as provided for by the 
Localism Act 2011.  The Policy includes details of when a flexible tenancy will be granted 
and when it will be brought to an end.   

4.3 This Policy also sets out how other tenancy-related changes will be dealt with, as provided 
for in the Localism Act 2011.  These include changes to the rules about tenancy 
successions and demotions. 

5. References to other Policies

Welwyn Hatfield Council has published an Allocations Policy and an Overcrowding and
Underoccupation Strategy.  These should be read in conjunction with the Tenancy Policy.
A copy of each of these policies can be obtained from Welwyn Hatfield Council’s website
www.welhat.gov.uk or the Housing Trust’s website www.welhat-cht.org.uk.  Printed
versions of these policies can also be requested by contacting a local housing office at 51
Bridge Road East, Welwyn Garden City or 30-32 Town Centre, Hatfield.

6. Introduction

6.1 Welwyn Hatfield Community Housing Trust (the Housing Trust) manages the homes 
owned by Welwyn Hatfield Council (the Council).  All social landlords (including local 
authorities and housing associations) are required to comply with the provisions set out in 
the Localism Act 2011.  The Act makes provision for social landlords to offer ‘fixed term’ 
tenancies (housing associations) or ‘flexible’ tenancies (local authority landlords).  Unlike 
the previous secure tenancies granted by local authorities, the new flexible tenancies will 
not offer a home for life and will be granted for a fixed period of time, after which the 
tenant’s circumstances will be reviewed.   

APPENDIX 1

Page 27

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/�
http://www.welhat-cht.org.uk/�


2 
 

6.2 Welwyn Hatfield Council has published a Tenancy Strategy which sets out guidance for all 
social landlords in the borough about the use of flexible tenancies (council owned homes) 
and fixed term tenancies (housing associations).  This Policy complies with the guidance set 
out in the Tenancy Strategy. 
 

6.3 The government has published a new Tenancy Standard.  This policy meets the 
requirements of the Tenancy Standard. 
 

6.4 This Policy sets out: 
 Our approach to using flexible tenancies.   
 The type of information which we will provide to new tenants and housing applicants, 

to inform them of the new flexible tenancies and the circumstances in which they will 
be granted.   

 When we will end a flexible tenancy and the process which will be followed when a 
flexible tenancy is being ended. 

 The arrangements for tenants who are transferring to another tenancy (either with the 
same or another social landlord) and what will happen when a mutual exchange takes 
place. 

 Information about tenants’ rights to request a review of our decision to grant or end a 
flexible tenancy. 

 Details of changes to the way in which we manage successions of tenancy and tenancy 
demotions, following changes to the law. 

 
6.5 The Council’s Tenancy Agreement has been reviewed to reflect the changes to the law.  

The Tenancy Agreement sets out in detail the Housing Trust’s/Council’s obligations to 
tenants in relation to all aspects of the tenancy, including arrangements for granting and 
ending a flexible tenancy.  
 

7.  Who this Policy applies to 
The new arrangements for creating flexible tenancies will apply only to new tenants.  
However the Policy should also be read by existing tenants so that they are aware of what 
will happen if they move to another home whether it is owned by their current landlord 
(the Council) or another social landlord.   
 

8.  What tenancies will we offer new tenants? 
 
From 1 July 2013 most new council tenants will be granted a five-year flexible tenancy.  
However some tenants will continue to be granted a secure council tenancy.  A secure 
council tenancy will be granted where the property into which they are moving is sheltered 
accommodation or other accommodation which has been specially designed or adapted to 
meet a households member’s needs, for example a long-term disability.  We will publish an 
up to date list of all the council homes for which a life-time secure tenancy will be given.  
Tenants will be notified in writing by us of the type of tenancy which they will be given.  
We will also offer a secure tenancy to tenants who are ‘downsizing’ from larger to smaller 
accommodation, where the smaller accommodation has two bedrooms or less. 

  

APPENDIX 1APPENDIX 1

Page 28



3 
 

 
9. What happens when the five-year term of a flexible tenancy has elapsed? 

At the end of the five year term of the tenancy the tenant will either: 
 

9.1 Be allowed to stay in their home – where this is the case they will be granted a new five-
year flexible tenancy   or 

 
9.2 Be asked to move to a smaller home – where they no longer need the size of home they 

are living in, for example where children have grown up and left home   or 
 
9.3 Be asked to move out of their home and either rent a home privately or buy a home (this 

could include buying a home through shared ownership or another form of low cost home 
ownership). 

 
10. When will tenants find out what will happen at the end of the five-year term? 
 During the last year of a five-year flexible tenancy a number of things will happen: 
 
10.1 10-12 months before the end of the five-year term 

We will advise tenants in writing that we are going to review the tenant’s household 
circumstances to identify whether or not their home still meets their needs.  A visit may be 
carried out to the tenant’s home to find out more information as part of this process.  The 
tenant will be asked to give the reason/s why they should be able to remain in their home 
and we will work with the tenant to identify the best possible housing solution for the 
tenant and their household.  
 

10.2 No later than 6 months before the end of the five-year term 
We will advise tenants in writing of our decision.  The decision may be to: 
 Grant a new five-year tenancy   or 
 End the flexible tenancy/require the tenants move to smaller socially rented 

accommodation (subject to availability of smaller accommodation). 
 

Where the decision has been made to end the tenancy we will: 
 Give the reason/s for our decision.  
 Provide information on the tenant’s right to request a review of our decision and the 

date by which the tenant must request the review. 
 Offer the tenant a meeting with a Housing Officer to discuss our decision and other 

housing options for the tenant.  Other options could include low cost home 
ownership, intermediate/market rent properties owned by a social landlord or private 
rented properties.   

 Provide a written guide on other housing options.   
 Where a tenant is moving to a smaller home, provide support and assistance, as 

available at the time of the move.   
 

10.3 No later than 10 weeks before the end of the five-year term 
 We will write to the tenant, giving formal notice that the tenancy will end and the 

earliest date that the tenancy will end.    
 The tenant will be given information on how to seek a review against our decision. 
 We will offer to arrange a meeting between the tenant and their Housing Officer or 

Housing Options Officer to discuss their future housing options as set out in 10.2 
above.   

APPENDIX 1APPENDIX 1

Page 29



4 
 

 Tenants may be referred to outside agencies that will be able to give the tenant 
professional, specialist advice, based on their individual circumstances.  This could 
include an independent financial advisor or the Citizens Advice Bureau. 

 We will begin court proceedings to end the tenancy. 
 Where a tenant is moving to a smaller home, we will provide support and assistance, as 

available at the time of the move.   
 

11. The legal process for ending a flexible tenancy 
 
11.1 We will have to apply to the court to end the tenancy.   

 
11.2 The court can only refuse to give possession back to us where we have not followed the 

correct procedure as set out above, or where the court is of the view that our decision is 
not lawful. 
 

12. Where a new tenancy is being granted 
We will make arrangements for the tenant to sign a new five-year Tenancy Agreement.   

 
13.  Where the tenant is required to move to smaller accommodation 

 We will offer the tenant a meeting if they require it, or written information on the 
process for applying for smaller accommodation. 

 We will offer to provide help in bidding for another property through its choice based 
lettings scheme ‘Herts Choice Homes’. 

 We will provide assistance in moving.  The type of assistance provided will depend 
upon Housing Trust policy at the time the move takes place. 
 

14. Under what circumstances will the Housing Trust end a flexible tenancy at the 
end of the five-year term? 

 
14.1 Under-occupation of the property 

The main reason for ending a flexible tenancy will be where the property is under-
occupied.  In deciding whether the property is under occupied we will take into account 
the needs of the household members, local housing need and availability of housing.  
Generally households will not be able to remain in the property where they have two or 
more spare bedrooms, however each case will be considered on its own merit.  The 
Housing Trust will discuss the household’s requirements with the tenant and assess the 
size of the property and family composition.  The assessment will also consider whether 
any adaptations or special features to the property are still needed and if so, whether they 
can be carried out to another (smaller) property.   
Note: In the event that a new tenancy is offered in a property where there is one spare 
bedroom and where the tenant is of working age, they will be advised by their Housing 
Officer that whilst we will grant a new five-year flexible tenancy, if they are on receipt of 
Housing Benefit they will, except in extenuating circumstances, be on a reduced benefit 
rate.  This is because of changes to the welfare benefit system introduced by the 
government.  On this basis the tenant may decide to apply to transfer to a smaller home.  
Where they do so, they may be given a secure tenancy in their new home. (Please refer to 
point 15.3) 

 
14.2 Breach of tenancy conditions 

A flexible tenancy may be ended where there is formal legal action being taken against the 
tenant by us because they have breached the terms of their tenancy agreement. This will 
apply only where a Suspended or Full Possession Order has been awarded.  In the case of a 

APPENDIX 1APPENDIX 1

Page 30



5 
 

Suspended Possession Order (SPO) this can be grounds for ending a flexible tenancy 
where the terms of the SPO are not being met by the tenant and the Housing Trust‘s 
intention is to apply for a Full Possession Order 

 
14.3 Financial circumstances 

We may end a flexible tenancy where the applicant has sufficient resources to provide 
their own accommodation, taking into account current market conditions. This process 
will include taking into account any special circumstances which the household may have, 
for example, disability or other support requirements.   
 
In carrying out our assessment we will consider the following: 
 Household income, including benefits and pensions 
 Savings and investments 
 Household size and circumstances 
 Type of property and size needed to meet the household’s needs 
 Outstanding debts  
 Ability of the applicant to secure a mortgage  
 
We will look further at a tenant’s financial situation where the household’s income or 
savings have reached set levels. These are regularly reviewed and can be viewed on our 
website. 
 
Where the tenant’s income or savings exceed the levels set, but where there are reasons 
why it would not be possible for the tenant to secure a mortgage for a house purchase, 
other options may be explored.  These include private renting and other home ownership 
options, such as shared ownership and government backed equity schemes.  
 
A tenant’s financial circumstances will be one of the issues discussed with the tenant in the 
period running up to the end of the flexible tenancy – see point 10 above. 
 
Further information about how we carry out the financial assessment is included in our 
Housing Allocations Guidelines.  Details of how to obtain a copy of these Guidelines are 
set out at the end of this document.   

  
15. The exceptions: when we will still grant secure tenancies after 1 July 2013  

After 1 July 2013 some new tenants will still be offered a secure (lifetime) tenancy.  These 
include:  
 

15.1 People who are moving into sheltered housing (this includes new tenants and tenants 
moving from a ‘general needs’ home or from other sheltered housing).  We will publish a 
list of properties which are eligible. 

 
15.2 People moving into a home specially designed/designated for a special needs group, for 

example, for people with mental health or learning disabilities. 
 
15.3 Existing tenants (whether they have a secure or flexible tenancy) who are ‘down-sizing’ 

from three bedroom or larger properties into a two or one bedroom property or tenants 
who are downsizing from a two bedroom to a one bedroom/bedsit property. 

 
15.4 Existing tenants who already had a secure tenancy granted before 1 April 2012 and who 

transfer to another home owned by Welwyn Hatfield, or another council or housing 
association.  Important note: This does not apply to tenants granted a secure tenancy 

APPENDIX 1APPENDIX 1

Page 31



6 
 

after 1 April 2012.  (The date on which the relevant section of the Localism Act comes 
into force).  It also does not apply to tenants who choose to transfer to a housing 
association home let on affordable rent1

 
 terms. 

15.5 Existing tenants who already had a secure tenancy granted before 1 April 2012 and who 
arrange to move through the mutual exchange scheme.   
Important note on transfers and mutual exchanges: The secure tenancy will not be 
protected where the property which the secure tenant is moving into is let at affordable 
rent, intermediate rent, market rent, is a mortgage rescue property or a shared ownership 
lease.  
 

16. How can a tenant end a tenancy during the fixed-term of a local authority 
flexible tenancy? 
A tenant must give four weeks’ notice in writing to end a flexible tenancy.     

  
17. How and when can we end a tenancy during the fixed term of a flexible 

tenancy? 
Where a tenant breaks their tenancy conditions we will use the same legal measures as for 
secure tenants. 

 
18. The process for requesting a review of our decision to grant or end a flexible 

tenancy 
 
18.1 As required by the Localism Act 2011 we have a review process where there has been a 

challenge to our decisions about flexible tenancies.  The law says that decisions which can 
be challenged are: 

 
1. The length of flexible tenancy granted.  This may only be requested where the length 

of the term does not reflect the provisions of this Tenancy Policy. 
2. Our decision to end a flexible tenancy at the end of the five-year term. 

 
Tenants have a right to request a review in these cases.   

 
18.2 The review process to be followed when a new tenant disagrees with our decision to grant 

a five-year flexible tenancy  
 

18.2.1 The flexible tenancy will start, to ensure that the tenant secures the property 
which they successfully bid for through the choice based lettings process.  
Where the tenant refuses to start the tenancy on the basis offered by us, the 
property will not be held for them and it will be offered to another bidder. 

 
18.2.2 The tenant will have 21 days from the date the tenancy is offered to appeal 

against the type and/or length of the tenancy being offered.  The review 
procedure will then follow the process set out below in 18.3.3 -18.3.11 

 
18.3 The following review process is in place for when a tenant disagrees with our decision not 

to grant another tenancy at the end of the five year flexible tenancy: 

                                                
1 ‘Affordable rents’ were recently introduced by the government to provide more money to build new social housing.  
Under the affordable rent scheme housing associations can charge up to 80% of the market rent for selected 
properties to provide this additional income.  All new homes built with government grant must be let on affordable 
rents and all affordable rent properties must be let on a fixed-term basis. 

APPENDIX 1APPENDIX 1

Page 32



7 
 

 
18.3.1 The tenant can seek a review after they have been informed in writing of the 

decision to end the flexible tenancy.  
 

18.3.2 The tenant must request the review at least 21 days before the stated end of the 
tenancy.   

 
18.2.3 Welwyn Hatfield Community Housing Trust will carry out the review on behalf 

of Welwyn Hatfield Council.  In the first instance the tenant may request the 
review either in writing or by attending a meeting with their Housing Officer or 
other appropriate representative of the Housing Trust’s Housing Management 
Team.  The tenant will be encouraged to provide as much information as 
possible about the reason/s why they are requesting a review. 

 
18.3.4. The Housing Officer will refer the case to Head of Housing Management within 

24 hours of being informed by the tenant that they wish to appeal.  In the 
absence of the Head of Housing Management the matter will be referred to the 
Housing Trust’s Director of Operations. 

 
18.3.5 The review will be carried out by Housing Trust’s Head of Housing Management.  

If the Head of Housing Management is not available to carry out the review, the 
review will be carried out by the Director of Operations.   The person carrying 
out the review is known as the Reviewing Officer. 

 
18.3.6 The tenant will be asked to complete a Review Form, setting out the reasons for 

requesting the review.  If the tenant has already given all their reasons to the 
Housing Trust (see 18.2.3 above), the tenant will be required to confirm in 
writing that they do not wish to add any further information. 

 
18.3.7 The tenant may make their own written representation or can ask someone else 

to do it on their behalf.  The tenant will be asked to provide the name and 
address of the person who is requesting the review on their behalf.   

 
18.3.8 The tenant will be required to return the completed Review Form within 14 days 

of receiving it.  However this time limit may be extended, at the discretion of the 
Reviewing Officer. 

 
18.3.9 The reviewing officer will complete their review within 56 days from when the 

appeal was requested.  This may be extended where the tenant’s 14 day time 
limit for completing the Review Form has been exceeded.  Where this is 
extended the Reviewing Officer will notify the tenant of this in writing. 

 
18.3.10 When the review has been completed the Reviewing Officer will send the tenant 

a conclusion letter, setting out the outcome of the review and the reason/s why 
the review is/is not resulting in a change to the original decision. 

 
18.3.11  There are no further stages to the review process and where the tenant 

 disagrees with the outcome of the review we will advise the tenant to seek 
 independent legal advice if they wish to pursue the matter further.  This should 
 be included in the conclusion letter. 

 
19. How we will provide information about flexible tenancies 

APPENDIX 1APPENDIX 1

Page 33



8 
 

 
19.1 The new approach to flexible tenancies will be promoted by the Housing Trust in ’Your 

Voice’, on the Housing Trust’s and Council’s websites, and through a poster campaign in 
the Housing Trust’s offices at Bridge Road East and Hatfield Town Centre.   The Housing 
Trust’s ‘Tenancy and Estate Management Service Standard’ will be reviewed in consultation 
with service users, taking into account the new Tenancy Policy and the government’s new 
Tenancy Standard,  Tenants will be signposted to the Service Standard and this Policy 
document.  These will be available in an electronic format from the Housing Trust’s and 
Council’s website and hard copy versions can be collected from the local area offices and 
sheltered housing schemes.  Where tenants do not have access to the internet, or are 
unable to collect a hard copy, the Housing Trust will send a copy of the required 
publication/s by post. 

 
19.2 Advertising properties through Herts Choice Homes 

 Where a property is designated as sheltered or specialist housing and therefore let on a 
 secure tenancy, this will be indicated in Herts Choice Homes.   The Housing Trust will 
 keep an updated list of all properties which will be let on a secure tenancy.  This list will be 
 made available on its website and a hard copy can be requested from its area housing 
 offices at Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield. 
 

19.3  Providing information to new tenants 
We will inform all new tenants of the type of tenancy they will be offered before they sign 
a Tenancy Agreement.  This will be in the form of a letter. The Tenancy Agreement will 
clearly state the duration of the tenancy, together with details of the process for reviewing 
and ending tenancies, as set out in this policy.  

 
19.4  Advice to tenants during their tenancy 

Housing staff will be on hand to advise any tenant who is concerned that their tenancy may 
be ended.  Advice will be given on the likelihood of a flexible tenancy not being renewed, 
on the basis of details of the household size, composition and circumstances at that time.  

 
20. Other changes to tenancies arising from the Localism Act 2011 
 
20.1 Succession rules 
 

20.1.1 The Localism Act 2011 has changed the criteria for successions of tenancy.  From 1 
 July 2013 all new Council tenants may only have one succession and this can only be 
 to a spouse or partner.  There will be no rights of succession to other family 
 members. 
 
20.1.2 Secure tenancies which began before 1 July 2013 will keep their existing rights to 

succession. 
  

APPENDIX 1APPENDIX 1

Page 34



9 
 

 
20.2 Demoted tenancies  
 

20.2.1 What is a demoted tenancy? 
Where a secure tenant does not keep to the terms of their Tenancy Agreement 
because they are engaging in anti-social behaviour, we may apply to the court for 
the tenancy to be demoted.   If the court makes a Demotion Order the tenant is 
allowed to remain in their home, but they lose security of tenure, for a period 
specified by the courts.  The Demotion Order will set out how the tenant will be 
expected to behave during the term of the demoted tenancy.  Applying for a 
Demotion Order is only one of many types of court action we can take when a 
tenant does not keep to the terms of their Tenancy Agreement. 
 

 20.2.2 What happens at the end of a demoted tenancy? 
If the tenant keeps to the terms of the Demotion Order, at the end of the 
demotion period the tenancy will either be: 
1. Restored to a secure tenancy -  where the tenant was a secure tenant before 

the tenancy was demoted or   
2. Restored to a flexible tenancy - where the tenant had a flexible tenancy before 

the tenancy was demoted 
 
20.2.3 How the demotion period counts towards the five-year term of a flexible tenancy: 

When a flexible tenancy is re-instated following the successful completion of the 
demotion period we will include the demotion period in the overall length of the 
flexible tenancy.   An example of how this works is shown below: 
Length of flexible tenancy      = 5 years 
Age of flexible tenancy when tenancy is demoted   = 2 years 
Length of demoted tenancy (successfully completed) = 1 year 
Time remaining of flexible tenancy after demotion  = 2 years 
 
We will explain this process before, during and at the end of the demotion period 
and provide written confirmation of this at the beginning and the end of the 
demotion period.  
 

20.2.4 What happens if the tenant does not keep to the terms of the Demotion Order? 
Where the tenant does not keep to the terms of the Demotion Order we will 
apply to the courts to end the tenancy and evict the tenant. 

 
22. Stakeholder consultation and equality review 

 
This Policy, the new Tenancy Agreement and Service Standard have been approved by 
Welwyn Hatfield Council’s Tenants Panel.  It has also been approved by residents who 
took part in a special consultation sessions.   This has given residents the opportunity to 
review the policy, taking into account equality and diversity issues.   The Housing Trust’s 
Tenancy and Neighbourhood Management Service Standard will be reviewed on an annual 
basis in partnership with tenants. Any issues identified as a result of these processes are 
reflected in the final version of this Policy and will be taken into account when the Policy is 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

APPENDIX 1APPENDIX 1

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 2 

1 
 

   

 

 

 

Tenancy Policy 

 
1.  Date of policy: April 2012, reviewed November 2017 
 
2.  Next Policy Review date: AnnualDecember 2019 
 
3.  Responsibility: Executive Director of OperationsHousing & Community Services 

 
4.  Scope of Policy 

 
4.1 Welwyn Hatfield Community Housing Trust (the managing agent) delivers housing 
and related services on behalf of Welwyn Hatfield Council (the landlord).  This Policy sets 
out which tenanciestenancy types Welwyn Hatfield Community Housing Trust, working on 
behalf of Welwyn Hatfield Council,council will offer to new council tenants of its own stock 
from 1 July 2013 onwards.   and has been updated to reflect the start of the first flexible 
tenancy reviews. 

 
4.2 This Policy sets out how flexible tenancies will be used, as provided for by the 

Localism Act 2011.  The Policy includes details ofinformation on when a flexible tenancy 

will be granted and when it will be brought to an end.   

4.3 This Policy also sets out how other tenancy-related changes will be dealt with, as 
provided for in the Localism Act 2011.  These include changes to the rules about tenancy 
successions and demotions. 

  
5.  References to other Policies 

 
Welwyn Hatfield Council has published an Allocations Policy and a Tenancy Strategy.  
These should be read in conjunction with the Tenancy Policy.  A copy of each of these 
policies can be obtained from Welwyn Hatfield Council’s website www.welhat.gov.uk or the 
Housing Trust’s website www.welhat-cht.org.uk..  Printed versions of these policies can 
also be requested by contacting a local housing office at 51 Bridge Roadthe Council 
Offices, Campus East, Welwyn Garden City or 30-32Hatfield Housing Office, white Lion 
House, Town Centre, Hatfield.   

 
6.  Introduction 

 
6.1 Welwyn Hatfield Community Housing Trust (the Housing Trust) manages the 
homes owned by Welwyn Hatfield Council (the Council).  All social landlords (including 
local authorities and housing associations) are required to comply with the provisions set 
out in the Localism Act 2011.  The Act makes provision for social landlords to offer ‘fixed 
term’ tenancies (housing associations) or ‘flexible’ tenancies (local authority landlords).  

Page 37



APPENDIX 2 

2 
 

Unlike the previous secure tenancies granted by local authorities, the new flexible 
tenancies will not offer a home for life and will be granted for a fixed period of time, after 
which the tenant’s circumstances will be reviewed.   
 
 
Welwyn Hatfield Council has published aBorough Council’s Tenancy Strategy which sets 
out guidance for all social landlords in the borough about the use of flexible tenancies 
(council owned homes) and fixed term tenancies (housing associations).  This Policy 
complies with the guidance set out in the Tenancy Strategy. 
 
The government has published a new Tenancy Standard.  This policy meets the 
requirements of the Tenancy Standard. 
 
This Policy sets out: 

 Our approach to using flexible tenancies.   

 The type of information which we will provide to new tenants and housing applicants, to 
inform them of the new flexible tenancies and the circumstances in which they will be 
granted.   

 When we will end a flexible tenancy and& the process whichthat will be followed when a 
flexible tenancy is being ended. 

 The arrangements for tenants who are transferring to another tenancy (either with the 
same or another social landlord) and what will happen when a mutual exchange takes 
place. 

 Information about tenants’ rights to request a review of our decision to grant or end a 
flexible tenancy. 

 Details of changes to the way in which we manage successions of tenancy and tenancy 
demotions, following changes to the law. 

 
The Council’s Tenancy Agreement has been reviewed to reflect the changes to the law.  
The Tenancy Agreement sets out in detail the Housing Trust’s/Council’scouncil obligations 
to tenants in relation to all aspects of the tenancy, including arrangements for granting and 
ending a flexible tenancy.  
 

7.  Who this Policy applies to 
The new arrangements for creating flexibleFlexible tenancies will apply only to new 
tenants.  However the Policy should also be read by existing tenants so that they are aware 
of what will happen if they move to another home whether itthat is owned by their current 
landlord (the Council) or another social landlord. council.  
 

8.  What tenancies will we offer new tenants? 
 
From 1 July 2013 most new council tenants will beare granted a five-year flexible tenancy.  
However however some tenants will continue to be granted a secure council tenancy.  A 
secure council tenancy will be granted where the property into which they are moving is 
sheltered accommodation or other accommodation which has been specially designed or 
adapted to meet a households member’s needs, for example a long-term disability.  We 
will publish an up to date list of all the council homes for which a life-time secure tenancy 
will be given.  Tenants will be notified in writing by us of the type of tenancy which they 
will be given.  We will also offer a secure tenancy to tenants who are ‘downsizing’ from 
larger to smaller accommodation, where the smaller accommodation has two bedrooms 
or less. 

Page 38



APPENDIX 2 

3 
 

 
We will inform all new tenants of the type of tenancy they will be offered before they sign a 
Tenancy Agreement. This will be in the form of a letter. The Tenancy Agreement will clearly 
state the duration of the tenancy, together with details of the process for reviewing and 
ending tenancies, as set out in this policy.  
 

9. What happens when the five-year term of a flexible tenancy has elapsed? 
At the end of the five year term of the tenancy the tenant will either: 
 

9.1 Be allowed to stay in their home – where this is the case they will be granted a new five-
year flexible tenancy   or 

 
9.2 Be asked to move to a smaller home – where they no longer need the size of home they 

are living in, for example where children have grown up and left home   or 
 
9.3 Be asked to move out of their home and either rent a home privately or buy a home (this 

could include buying a home through shared ownership or another form of low cost home 
ownership). 

 
10. When will tenants find out what will happen at the end of the five-year term? 
 During the last year of a five-year flexible tenancy a number of things will happen: 
 
10.1 10-12 months before the end of the five-year term 

We will advise tenants in writing that we are going to review the tenant’s household 
circumstances to identify whether or not their home still meets their needs.  A visit may be 
carried out to the tenant’s home to find out more information as part of this process.  The 
tenant will be asked to give the reason/s why they should be able to remain in their home 
and we will work with the tenant to identify the best possible housing solution for the 
tenant and their household.  
 

10.2 No later than 6 months before the end of the five-year term 
We will advise tenants in writing of our decision.  The decision may be to: 
 Grant a new five-year tenancy   or 
 End the flexible tenancy/require the tenants move to smaller socially rented 

accommodation (subject to availability of smaller accommodation). 
 

Where the decision has been made to end the tenancy we will: 
 Give the reason/s for our decision.  
 Provide information on the tenant’s right to request a review of our decision and the 

date by which the tenant must request the review. 
 Offer the tenant a meeting with a Housing Officer to discuss our decision and other 

housing options for the tenant.  Other options could include low cost home 
ownership, intermediate/market rent properties owned by a social landlord or private 
rented properties.   

Provide a written guide on other housing options.   
 Where a tenant is moving to a smaller home, provide support and assistance, as 

available at the time of the move.   
 

10.3 No later than 10 weeks before the end of the five-year term 
 We will write to the tenant, giving formal notice that the tenancy will end and the 

earliest date that the tenancy will end.    
 The tenant will be given information on how to seek a review against our decision. 

Page 39



APPENDIX 2 

4 
 

 We will offer to arrange a meeting between the tenant and their Housing Officer or 
Housing Options Officer to discuss their future housing options as set out in 10.2 
above.   

Tenants may be referred to outside agencies that will be able to give the tenant 
professional, specialist advice, based on their individual circumstances.  This could include 
an independent financial advisor or the Citizens Advice Bureau. 
 We will begin court proceedings to end the tenancy. 
 Where a tenant is moving to a smaller home, we will provide support and assistance, as 

available at the time of the move.   
 

11. The legal process for ending a flexible tenancy 
 
11.1 We will have to apply to the court to end the tenancy.   

 
11.2 The court can only refuse to give possession back to us where we have not followed the 

correct procedure as set out above, or where the court is of the view that our decision is 
not lawful. 
 

12. Where a new tenancy is being granted 
We will make arrangements for the tenant to sign a new five-year Tenancy Agreement.   

 
13.  Where the tenant is required to move to smaller accommodation 

 We will offer the tenant a meeting if they require it, or written information on the 
process for applying for smaller accommodation. 

 We will offer to provide help in bidding for another property through its choice based 
lettings scheme ‘Herts Choice Homes’. 

We will provide assistance in moving.  The type of assistance provided will depend upon 
Housing Trust policy at the time the move takes place. 

 
14. Under what circumstances will the Housing Trust end a flexible tenancy at the 

end of the five-year term? 
 
14.1 Under-occupation of the property 

The main reason for ending a flexible tenancy will be where the property is under-
occupied.  In deciding whether the property is under occupied we will take into account 
the needs of the household members, local housing need and availability of housing.  
Generally households will not be able to remain in the property where they have two or 
more spare bedrooms, however each case will be considered on its own merit.  The 
Housing Trust will discuss the household’s requirements with the tenant and assess the 
size of the property and family composition.  The assessment will also consider whether 
any adaptations or special features to the property are still needed and if so, whether they 
can be carried out to another (smaller) property.   
Note: In the event that a new tenancy is offered in a property where there is one spare 
bedroom and where the tenant is of working age, they will be advised by their Housing 
Officer that whilst we will grant a new five-year flexible tenancy, if they are on receipt of 
Housing Benefit they will, except in extenuating circumstances, be on a reduced benefit 
rate.  This is because of changes to the welfare benefit system introduced by the 
government.  On this basis the tenant may decide to apply to transfer to a smaller home.  
Where they do so, they may be given a secure tenancy in their new home. (Please refer to 
point 15.3) 

 
14.2 Breach of tenancy conditions 

Page 40



APPENDIX 2 

5 
 

A flexible tenancy may be ended where there is formal legal action being taken against the 
tenant by us because they have breached the terms of their tenancy agreement. This will 
apply only where a Suspended or Full Possession Order has been awarded.  In the case of a 
Suspended Possession Order (SPO) this can be grounds for ending a flexible tenancy 
where the terms of the SPO are not being met by the tenant and the Housing Trust‘s 
intention is to apply for a Full Possession Order 

 
14.3 Financial circumstances 

We may end a flexible tenancy where the applicant has sufficient resources to provide 
their own accommodation, taking into account current market conditions. This process 
will include taking into account any special circumstances which the household may have, 
for example, disability or other support requirements.   
 
In carrying out our assessment we will consider the following: 
 Household income, including benefits and pensions 
 Savings and investments 
 Household size and circumstances 
 Type of property and size needed to meet the household’s needs 
 Outstanding debts  
 Ability of the applicant to secure a mortgage  
 
We will look further at a tenant’s financial situation where the household’s income or 
savings have reached set levels. These are regularly reviewed and can be viewed on our 
website. 
 
Where the tenant’s income or savings exceed the levels set, but where there are reasons 
why it would not be possible for the tenant to secure a mortgage for a house purchase, 
other options may be explored.  These include private renting and other home ownership 
options, such as shared ownership and government backed equity schemes.  
 
A tenant’s financial circumstances will be one of the issues discussed with the tenant in the 
period running up to the end of the flexible tenancy – see point 10 above. 
 
Further information about how we carry out the financial assessment is included in our 
Housing Allocations Guidelines.  Details of how to obtain a copy of these Guidelines are 
set out at the end of this document.   

  
15. The exceptions: when we will still grant secure tenancies after 1 July 2013  

After 1 July 2013 someSome new tenants will still be offered a secure (lifetime) tenancy.  
These include:  
 
 People who are moving into sheltered housing (this includes new tenants and tenants 

moving from a ‘general needs’ home or from other sheltered housing).   

 People moving into a home specially adapted for their needs. 

 People moving into a home specially designed/designated for a special needs group, 
for example, for people with mental health or learning disabilities. 

 Existing tenants (whether they have a secure or flexible tenancy) who are ‘down-sizing’ 
from three bedroom or larger properties into a two or one bedroom property or tenants 
who are downsizing from a two bedroom to a one bedroom/bedsit property. 

Page 41



APPENDIX 2 

6 
 

15.1 People who are moving into sheltered housing (this includes new tenants and tenants 
moving from a ‘general needs’ home or from other sheltered housing).  We will publish a 
list of properties which are eligible. 

 
 15.2 People moving into a home specially designed/designated for a special 

needs group, for example, for people with mental health or learning disabilities. 

 
 

 15.4 Existing tenants who already had a secure tenancy granted before 1 April 
2012 and who transfer to another home owned by Welwyn Hatfield, or another council 
or housing association.  .  

Important note: This does not apply to tenants granted a secure tenancy after 1 April 
2012.  (The date on which the relevant section of the Localism Act comes into force).  
It also does not apply to tenants who choose to transfer to a housing association home 
let on affordable rent1 terms. 

 
 15.5 Existing tenants who already had a secure tenancy granted before 1 April 

2012 and who arrange to move through the mutual exchange scheme.   

Important note on transfers and mutual exchanges: The secure tenancy will not be 
protected where the property which the secure tenant is moving into is let at affordable 
rent, intermediate rent, market rent, is a mortgage rescue property or a shared 
ownership lease.  

 
1610. How can a tenant end atheir tenancy duringwith the fixed-term ofCouncil? 
Where a local authoritytenant wants to end their tenancy, whether secure or flexible tenancy? 

A tenant, they must give four weeks’ notice in writing to the council.  The council expects to 
be able to visit the tenant during the notice period to carry out a property inspection and 
advise the outgoing tenant of their responsibilities.   
 
Where end less than four weeks’ notice is given, the council will charge four weeks’ rent in 
lieu of notice. This charge may be waived on a flexible tenancy.  case by case basis.   

  
17  

11. How and when can wethe council end a tenancy during the fixed term of a flexible 
tenancy? 

 
Where a tenant breaks their tenancy conditions we will use the same legal measures as for 
secure tenants. 

 
12. What happens when the term of the flexible tenancy has elapsed? 

 
12.1 There are three possible outcomes at the end of the tenancy term: 

The tenant will be allowed to stay in their home – where this is the case they will be granted 
a new flexible tenancy 
Or 
The tenant will be asked to move to a smaller home – where this is the case, they will be 
offered a flexible tenancy at a new property 

                                                 
1 ‘Affordable rents’ were recently introduced by the government to provide more money to build new social housing.  
Under the affordable rent scheme housing associations can charge up to 80% of the market rent for selected 
properties to provide this additional income.  All new homes built with government grant must be let on affordable 
rents and all affordable rent properties must be let on a fixed-term basis. 

Page 42



APPENDIX 2 

7 
 

Or 
The tenant will be asked to move out of their home and find alternative accommodation via 
low cost home ownership, intermediate/market rent properties from a social landlord, or 
private rented properties. 
 

12.2 During the last year of a flexible tenancy, the sequence of events is: 
 
Nine months before the end of the term  
We will advise tenants in writing that we are going to review the tenant’s household 
circumstances to identify whether or not their home still meets their needs, we will work with 
the tenant to identify the best possible housing solution for the tenant and their household.  

 
No later than six months before the end of the term 
We will advise tenants in writing of our decision in ALL cases no matter what the decision 
we will serve a Notice.  This is the six-month notice. 
 
No later than 10 weeks before the end of the term for those tenants who are required 
to move to smaller accommodation OR where the decision is to end the tenancy. 
We will write to the tenant, giving formal notice that the tenancy will end and the date that 
the fixed term will end. This is the two-month notice. 

 
At the end of the tenancy term, where the decision is to end the tenancy 
We will begin court proceedings to regain possession of the property.  We will have to apply 
to the court to end the tenancy.  We can only start this process when the five year term 
ends.  The court can only refuse to give possession back to us where we have not followed 
the correct procedure regarding the service of the six-month notice and the two-month 
notice as set out above, or where the court is of the view that our decision is not lawful. 

 
12.3 Two year flexible tenancies 

Where the tenant is required to move to smaller accommodation but has been unable to 
find a suitable new home, the council may offer a further flexible tenancy for a term of two 
years at the same property during which time the tenant would be expected to move.  This 
tenancy will be subject to a review in the last year of the term following this policy.  At the 
end of the two year term, if the tenant has not moved to suitable alternative 
accommodation, the tenancy will be ended.  

 
13. How will we make our decision on ending a flexible tenancy at the end of the term? 
 
13.1  Under-occupation of the property 

The property is under occupied by two or more bedrooms. 
OR 
The property is adapted and the family member who required that adaptation no longer 
lives there.  
 
We will take the opportunity to remind all tenants that if they are under occupied, they may 
be subject to the spare room subsidy (bedroom tax). 

 
13.2 Breach of tenancy conditions 

A breach of the tenancy where formal legal action is underway or being considered. 
OR 
Cases where a court order has already been obtained and either suspended or adjourned 
on terms whether or not that order has been breached. 
OR 
Where a full possession order has been obtained but not yet enforced. 

 
13.3 Financial circumstances 

Page 43



APPENDIX 2 

8 
 

Where the tenant is considered to have sufficient resources to provide their own 
accommodation, taking into account current market conditions. We will use the information 
in the Housing Allocations Guidelines when assessing the tenants’ income and savings. 

 
1418. The process for requesting a review of our decision to grant or end a flexible tenancy 
 

18.1 As required by the Localism Act 2011 we have a review process where there has 
been a challenge to our decisions about flexible tenancies.  The law says that decisions 
which can be challenged are: 

 
1. The length of flexible tenancy granted.  This may only be requested where the length of 

the term does not reflect the provisions of this Tenancy Policy. 
2. Our decision to end a flexible tenancy at the end of the five-year term. 

 
Tenants have a right to request a review in these cases.   

 
18.2 The review process to be followed when a new tenant disagrees with our decision to grant 

a five-year flexible tenancy  
 

18.2.1 The flexible tenancy will start, to ensure that the tenant secures the property 
which they successfully bid for through the choice based lettings process.  
Where the tenant refuses to start the tenancy on the basis offered by us, the 
property will not be held for them and it will be offered to another bidder. 

 
18.2.2 The tenant will have 21 days from the date the tenancy is offered to appeal 

against the type and/or length of the tenancy being offered.  The review 
procedure will then follow the process set out below in 18.3.3 -18.3.11 

 
18.3 The following review process is in place for when a tenant disagrees with our decision not 

to grant another tenancy at the end of the five year flexible tenancy: 
 

18.3.1 The tenant can seek a review after they have been informed in writing of the 
decision to end the flexible tenancy.  

 
18.3.2 The tenant must request the review at least 21 days before the stated end of the 

tenancy.   
 

18.2.3 Welwyn Hatfield Community Housing Trust will carry out the review on behalf 
of Welwyn Hatfield Council.  In the first instance the tenant may request the 
review either in writing or by attending a meeting with their Housing Officer or 
other appropriate representative of the Housing Trust’s Housing Management 
Team.  The tenant will be encouraged to provide as much information as 
possible about the reason/s why they are requesting a review. 

 
18.3.4. The Housing Officer will refer the case to Head of Housing Management within 

24 hours of being informed by the tenant that they wish to appeal.  In the 
absence of the Head of Housing Management the matter will be referred to the 
Housing Trust’s Director of Operations. 

 
18.3.5 The review will be carried out by Housing Trust’s Head of Housing Management.  

If the Head of Housing Management is not available to carry out the review, the 
review will be carried out by the Director of Operations.   The person carrying 
out the review is known as the Reviewing Officer. 

Page 44



APPENDIX 2 

9 
 

 
18.3.6 The tenant will be asked to complete a Review Form, setting out the reasons for 

requesting the review.  If the tenant has already given all their reasons to the 
Housing Trust (see 18.2.3 above), the tenant will be required to confirm in 
writing that they do not wish to add any further information. 

 
18.3.7 The tenant may make their own written representation or can ask someone else 

to do it on their behalf.  The tenant will be asked to provide the name and 
address of the person who is requesting the review on their behalf.   

 
18.3.8 The tenant will be required to return the completed Review Form within 14 days 

of receiving it.  However this time limit may be extended, at the discretion of the 
Reviewing Officer. 

 
18.3.9 The reviewing officer will complete their review within 56 days from when the 

appeal was requested.  This may be extended where the tenant’s 14 day time 
limit for completing the Review Form has been exceeded.  Where this is 
extended the Reviewing Officer will notify the tenant of this in writing. 

 
18.3.10 When the review has been completed the Reviewing Officer will send the tenant 

a conclusion letter, setting out the outcome of the review and the reason/s why 
the review is/is not resulting in a change to the original decision. 

 
18.3.11  There are no further stages to the review process and where the tenant 

 disagrees with the outcome of the review we will advise the tenant to seek 
 independent legal advice if they wish to pursue the matter further.  This should 
 be included in the conclusion letter. 
 

 
19. How we will provide information about flexible tenancies 

 
19.1 The new approach to flexible tenancies will be promoted by the Housing Trust in ’Your 

Voice’, on the Housing Trust’s and Council’s websites, and through a poster campaign in 
the Housing Trust’s offices at Bridge Road East and Hatfield Town Centre.   The Housing 
Trust’s ‘Tenancy and Estate Management Service Standard’ will be reviewed in consultation 
with service users, taking into account the new Tenancy Policy and the government’s new 
Tenancy Standard,  Tenants will be signposted to the Service Standard and this Policy 
document.  These will be available in an electronic format from the Housing Trust’s and 
Council’s website and hard copy versions can be collected from the local area offices and 
sheltered housing schemes.  Where tenants do not have access to the internet, or are 
unable to collect a hard copy, the Housing Trust will send a copy of the required 
publication/s by post. 

 
19.2 Advertising properties through Herts Choice Homes 

 Where a property is designated as sheltered or specialist housing and therefore let on a 
 secure tenancy, this will be indicated in Herts Choice Homes.   The Housing Trust will 
 keep an updated list of all properties which will be let on a secure tenancy.  This list will be 
 made available on its website and a hard copy can be requested from its area housing 
 offices at Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield. 
 

 Providing information to new tenants 

Page 45



APPENDIX 2 

10 
 

We will inform all new tenants of the type of tenancy they will be offered before they sign a 
Tenancy Agreement.  This will be in the form of a letter. The Tenancy Agreement will 
clearly state the duration of the tenancy, together with details of the process for reviewing 
and ending tenancies, as set out in this policy.  

 
19.3  Advice to tenants during their tenancy 

Housing staff will be on hand to advise any tenant who is concerned that their tenancy may 
be ended.  Advice will be given on the likelihood of a flexible tenancy not being renewed, 
on the basis of details of the household size, composition and circumstances at that time.  

 
2015. Other changes to tenancies arising from the Localism Act 2011 
 
2015.1 Succession rules 
 

20.1.1 The Localism Act 2011 has changed the criteria for successions of tenancy.  From 1 
 July 2013 all new Councilcouncil tenants may only have one succession and this 
can only be  to a spouse or partner.  There will be no rights of succession to other family 
 members. 
 
20.1.2 Secure tenancies which began before 1 July 2013 will keep their existing rights to 
succession. 
20 

15.2 Demoted tenancies  
 

20.2.1 What is a demoted tenancy? 
Where a secure tenant does not keep to the terms of their Tenancy Agreement because 
they are engaging in anti-social behaviour, we may apply to the court for the tenancy to be 
demoted.   If the court makes a Demotion Order the tenant is allowed to remain in their 
home, but they lose security of tenure, for a period specified by the courts.  The Demotion 
Order will set out how the tenant will be expected to behave during the term of the demoted 
tenancy.  Applying for a Demotion Order is only one of many types of court action we can 
take when a tenant does not keep to the terms of their Tenancy Agreement. 

 
 20.2.2 What happens at the end of a demoted tenancy? 

If the tenant keeps to the terms of the Demotion Order, at the end of the demotion period 
the tenancy will either be: 
 Restored to a secure tenancy -  where the tenant was a secure tenant before the 

tenancy was demoted or   
 Restored to a flexible tenancy - where the tenant had a flexible tenancy before the 

tenancy was demoted 
 
20.2.3 How the demotion period counts towards the five-year term of a flexible 

tenancy: 
When a flexible tenancy is re-instated following the successful completion of the demotion 
period we will include the demotion period in the overall length of the flexible tenancy.   An 
example of how this works is shown below: 
Length of flexible tenancy      = 5 years 
Age of flexible tenancy when tenancy is demoted   = 2 years 
Length of demoted tenancy (successfully completed) = 1 year 
Time remaining of flexible tenancy after demotion  = 2 years 
 
We will explain this process before, during and at the end of the demotion period and 
provide written confirmation of this at the beginning and the end of the demotion period.  

 

Page 46



APPENDIX 2 

11 
 

20.2.4 What happens if the tenant does not keep to the terms of the Demotion 
Order? 

Where the tenant does not keep to the terms of the Demotion Order we will apply to the 
courts to end the tenancy and evict the tenant. 
 

16.      Stakeholder consultation and equality review 
 
This updated Policy, the new Tenancy Agreement and Service Standard have  has been 
approved by Welwyn Hatfield Council’sCouncil Tenants Panel.  It hasThe 2012 version was 
also been approved by residents who took part in a special consultation sessions.   This has 
given which gave residents the opportunity to review the policy, taking into account equality 
and diversity issues.   The Housing Trust’s Tenancy and Neighbourhood Management 
Service Standard will be reviewed on an annual basis in partnership with tenants. Any issues 
identified as a result of these processes are reflected in the final version of this Policy and 
will be taken into account when the Policy is reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 APPENDIX 3  

                       

 

Flexible Tenancy Review Procedure 
 

Effective from: December 2017 
Next review date: December 2019 

 

1. Introduction 
 

The review and decision at the end of a flexible tenancy should not present any surprises for the 
tenant or the Council. It should not be used to compensate for a failure to manage issues which 
have arisen during the course of the tenancy but not been addressed.  

 
2. Possession and flexible tenancies 

 
The expiry of the flexible tenancy presents an opportunity for Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council to 
obtain possession, without having to prove grounds at a hearing.  In order to ensure we are 
compliant with the notice requirements, the review must be complete and the relevant notice 
served no later than six months before the expiry date of the tenancy. We will serve six-month 
notices on all flexible term tenants, even if we are minded to offer a further tenancy at the same 
property. This enables us to seek possession at the end of the fixed term, should there be a 
tenancy breach after the flexible tenancy review decision has been made. We will always explain 
why we are serving the notice, what we are minded to do and what we expect of tenants during the 
last 6 months of their flexible tenancy. The two-month notice will only be served where we are 
requiring the tenant to move or are ending the tenancy. 
 

3. What are the outcomes when the tenancy is reviewed? 
 

There are three possible outcomes at the end of the five year term, either the tenant will: 
 

1. Be allowed to stay in their home – where this is the case they will be granted a new five-year 
flexible tenancy 
Or 

2. Be asked to move to a smaller home – where this is the case, they will be offered a five year 
flexible tenancy at a new property 
Or 

3. Be asked to move out of their home and find alternative accommodation via low cost home 
ownership, intermediate/market rent properties from a social landlord, or private rented 
properties. 

 
4. What date does the fixed term end?  
 

The flexible tenancy is for a term of five years. As we only work on whole weeks in our current 
business processes, this means all tenancies need to end on a Sunday and cannot end mid-week. 

 
For example, if a tenancy started on the Monday of week 37, this means that in five years’ time the 
tenancy will end on the Sunday of week 36.   
 
5. When will tenants find out what will happen at the end of the five year term? 

 
During the last year of a five year flexible tenancy, the sequence of events is: 
 

Nine months before the end of the five-year term  
We will advise tenants in writing that we are going to review the tenant’s household circumstances 
to identify whether or not their home still meets their needs. A visit may be carried out to the 

Page 49



 APPENDIX 3  

tenant’s home to find out more information as part of this process. The tenant will be asked to give 
the reason/s why they should be able to remain in their home and we will work with the tenant to 
identify the best possible housing solution for the tenant and their household.  

 
No later than 6 months before the end of the five-year term 
We will advise tenants in writing of our decision in ALL cases.  No matter what the decision we will 
serve a six month notice.  In each case the wording of the letter that forms the notice will say that 
the Council is “minded” to make a certain decision. This will ensure that if the tenant’s 
circumstance change substantially after the initial review, the Council can make an alternate 
decision before the two-month notice needs to be served. 

 
Where a new tenancy is being granted 

 We will make an offer of a new tenancy nearer to the end of the fixed term, this will be a new 
five year agreement 

 
Where the tenant is required to move to smaller accommodation 

 We will offer the tenant a meeting if they require it, or written information on the process for 
applying for smaller accommodation. 

 We will offer to provide help in bidding for another property through its choice based lettings 
scheme ‘Herts Choice Homes’. 

 We will provide assistance in moving by granting Panel Band A being given to the tenants 
housing needs register application.   

 
Two year flexible tenancies 

 Where the tenant is required to move to smaller accommodation but has been unable to find a 
suitable new home, the Council may offer a flexible tenancy for a term of two years during 
which time the tenant would be expected to move.  This tenancy will be subject to a review in 
the last year of the term following this policy. At the end of the two year term, if the tenant has 
not moved to suitable alternative accommodation, the tenancy will be ended. 

 
Where the decision is to end the tenancy 

 Give the reason/s for our decision.  

 Provide information on the tenant’s right to request a review of our decision and the date by 
which the tenant must request the review. 

 Offer the tenant a meeting with a Neighbourhood Officer to discuss our decision and other 
housing options for the tenant. Other options could include low cost home ownership, 
intermediate/market rent properties owned by a social landlord or private rented properties.   

 Provide a written guide on other housing options.   

 Where a tenant is moving to a smaller home, provide support and assistance, as available at 
the time of the move.   

 
Where the tenant is required to move to smaller accommodation OR where the decision is 
to end the tenancy: No later than 10 weeks before the end of the five-year term 

 We will write to the tenant, giving formal notice that the tenancy will end and the earliest date 
that the tenancy will end. This is the two-month notice. 

 The tenant will be given information on how to seek a review against our decision. 

 We will offer to arrange a meeting between the tenant and their Neighbourhood Officer or 
Housing Options Officer to discuss their future housing options as outlined above.   

 Tenants may be referred to outside agencies that will be able to give the tenant professional, 
specialist advice, based on their individual circumstances. This could include an independent 
financial advisor or the Citizens Advice Bureau. 

 Where a tenant is moving to a smaller home, we will provide support and assistance, as 
available at the time of the move.   

 
 
 

Page 50



 APPENDIX 3  

6. The legal process for ending a flexible tenancy 
 
We will have to apply to the court to end the tenancy. We can only start this process when the five 
year term ends. The court can only refuse to give possession back to us where we have not 
followed the correct procedure as set out above, or where the court is of the view that our decision 
is not lawful. 

 
7. How will we make our decision on ending a flexible tenancy at the end of the term 

 
7a.    Under-occupation of the property 
The property is under occupied by two or more bedrooms. 
OR 
The property is adapted and the family member who required that adaptation no longer lives there.  
 
We will take the opportunity to remind all tenants that if they are under-occupied they may be 
subject to the spare room subsidy (bedroom tax). 

 
7b.    Breach of tenancy conditions 
A breach of the tenancy where formal legal action is underway or being considered. 
OR 
Cases where a court order has already been obtained and either suspended or adjourned on terms 
whether or not that order has been breached. 
OR 
Where a full possession order has been obtained but not yet enforced. 
 
7c.    Financial Circumstances 
We may end a flexible tenancy where the applicant has sufficient resources to provide their own 
accommodation, taking into account current market conditions. This process will include taking into 
account any special circumstances which the household may have, for example, disability or other 
support requirements.   

 
In carrying out our assessment we will consider the following: 

 Household income, including benefits and pensions 

 Savings and investments 

 Household size and circumstances 

 Type of property and size needed to meet the household’s needs 

 Outstanding debts  

 Ability of the applicant to secure a mortgage  
 

We will look further at a tenant’s financial situation where the household’s income or savings have 
reached set levels. Where the tenant’s income or savings exceed the levels set, but where there 
are reasons why it would not be possible for the tenant to secure a mortgage for a house 
purchase, other options may be explored. These include private renting and other home ownership 
options, such as shared ownership and government backed equity schemes.  

 
Further information about how we carry out the financial assessment is included in our Housing 
Allocations Guidelines.   

 
  

Page 51



 APPENDIX 3  

Appendix 1: The tenant’s right to seek a review of our decision 
 

As required by the Localism Act 2011 we have a review process where there has been a challenge 
to our decisions about flexible tenancies. The law says that decisions which can be challenged are: 

 
1. The length of flexible tenancy granted. This may only be requested where the length of the 

term does not reflect the provisions of this Tenancy Policy. 
2. Our decision to end a flexible tenancy at the end of the five-year term. 

 
Tenants have a right to request a review in these cases.   
 
The review process to be followed when a new tenant disagrees with our decision to grant a 
five-year flexible tenancy  
 
The flexible tenancy will start, to ensure that the tenant secures the property which they 
successfully bid for through the choice based lettings process. Where the tenant refuses to start 
the tenancy on the basis offered by us, the property will not be held for them and it will be offered 
to another bidder. 

 
The tenant will have 21 days from the date the tenancy is offered to appeal against the type and/or 
length of the tenancy being offered. The review procedure will then follow the process set out 
below.  
 
The following review process is in place for when a tenant disagrees with our decision not 
to grant another tenancy at the end of the five year flexible tenancy: 

 
The tenant can seek a review after they have been informed in writing of the decision to end the 
flexible tenancy.  

 
The tenant must request the review at least 21 days before the stated end of the tenancy.   

 
In the first instance the tenant may request the review either in writing or by attending a meeting 
with their Neighbourhood Officer or other appropriate representative of the council’s 
Neighbourhood Team.  The tenant will be encouraged to provide as much information as possible 
about the reason/s why they are requesting a review. 

 
The Neighbourhood Officer will refer the case to Senior Housing Manager within 24 hours of being 
informed by the tenant that they wish to appeal.  In the absence of the Senior Housing Manager 
the matter will be referred to the Head of Housing Operations 

 
The review will be carried out by Senior Housing Manager.  If the Senior Housing Manager is not 
available to carry out the review, the review will be carried out by the Head of Housing Operations. 
The person carrying out the review is known as the Reviewing Officer. 

 
The tenant will be asked to complete a Review Form, setting out the reasons for requesting the 
review.  If the tenant has already given all their reasons to the council (see 18.2.3 above), the 
tenant will be required to confirm in writing that they do not wish to add any further information. 
 
The tenant may make their own written representation or can ask someone else to do it on their 
behalf.  The tenant will be asked to provide the name and address of the person who is requesting 
the review on their behalf.   

 
The tenant will be required to return the completed Review Form within 14 days of receiving it.  
However this time limit may be extended, at the discretion of the Reviewing Officer. 

 
The reviewing officer will complete their review within 56 days from when the appeal was 
requested.  This may be extended where the tenant’s 14 day time limit for completing the Review 

Page 52



 APPENDIX 3  

Form has been exceeded.  Where this is extended the Reviewing Officer will notify the tenant of 
this in writing. 

 
When the review has been completed the Reviewing Officer will send the tenant a conclusion 
letter, setting out the outcome of the review and the reason/s why the review is/is not resulting in a 
change to the original decision. There are no further stages to the review process and where the 
tenant disagrees with the outcome of the review we will advise the tenant to seek independent 
legal advice if they wish to pursue the matter further. This should be included in the conclusion 
letter. 

 
  

Page 53



 APPENDIX 3  

Appendix 2 – Assessment of Financial Resources (from Housing Allocations Guideline 
2017) 

 
In making a decision about whether an applicant has sufficient resources to find their own 

accommodation we will consider the following: 

 Household income, including benefits and pensions. 

 Savings and investments, including any equity in property currently owned in the UK or abroad. 

 Household size and circumstances. 

 Property needed, according to size and type and whether the applicant needs supported or 
adapted accommodation. 

 Outstanding debts or financial commitments. 

 Ability of the applicant to secure a mortgage, taking into account his or her age. 
 

We will look in detail at applicants with trigger points relating to income level, savings, investments 

or equity as set out in the table below: 

Household Type Income Savings/Equity 

Single person 35,000 30,000 
Couple  40,000 30,000 
Two bed need 60,000 40,000 
Three bed need 75,000 40,000 
Four bed need 105,000 50,000 

 

If an applicant has met a trigger point we will consider their ability to secure their own housing in 

the private sector by way of a mortgage in relation to their individual property requirements.  For 

example, we would assume that applicants with dependent children would need a house.  

We will assess the ability of the applicant to buy accommodation, against average property prices 

in the area (reviewed every three months).  Recognizing that certain types of property are likely to 

be more expensive, we will take account of special circumstances of the applicant; for example, if 

they need a property suitable for a wheelchair or they require support, such as sheltered housing.  

Median property prices in the Borough.  Source: www.home.co.uk (07.02.2017) 

Property Size WGC Hatfield 

I bed 200,000 200,000 
2 bed house 300,000 300,000 
3 bed house 400,000 380,000 
4 bed house 600,000 512,500 

Formula 

In assessing the ability of an applicant to secure a mortgage we will use the following formula, 

based on the applicant’s ability to secure a 25 year mortgage: 

Savings + 2.5 x joint income OR Savings + 3 x main income, plus 1 x second income 

Notional Allowances against Savings/Income 

We will make a notional reduction of £5,000 from savings to set against costs associated with 

purchasing a property. 

We will also take into account (against income) any reasonable long term financial commitments.  

This could include the following: 

 Car Loan 

 Long term child care costs 

Page 54

http://www.home.co.uk/


 APPENDIX 3  

 Maintenance costs. 

Applicants unable to secure a mortgage 

Some applicants may not be able to secure a mortgage for one of the following reasons:  

 County court judgement 

 Poor credit history 

 Existing home ownership 
 

In such cases, we would consider the applicant’s ability to rent in the private sector on the 

basis of their income and savings etc. 

  

Page 55



 APPENDIX 3  

Appendix 3 – Recording and monitoring the Flexible Tenancy Review processes 
 
Being alerted to carry out a review  
A report will be run daily to remind each NHO of any reviews required on their patch, where a 
review has been carried out, the tenancy will cease to appear on the list 
 
The alert will be sent when the tenancy is 1520 days old (4 years and two months) and where 
there is no arrears action OUT1 or OUT2 or OUT3 present. 
 
Generating the advice letter for the tenant 
These will be generated via an arrears action with an editable letter to be sent to the tenant along 
with a review form to be completed by the Neighbourhood Officer. 
 
This action will be action FTTR 
 
Recording the outcome of a review 
These will be recorded as an arrears action, there are three possible outcomes: 
Outcome 1 – offer a new tenancy at the same property (arrears action code OUT1) 
Outcome 2 – offer a new tenancy at a different property (arrears action code OUT2) 
Outcome 3 – end the tenancy and seek possession (arrears action code OUT3) 
These will generate editable letters which will form the 6-month notice to be sent or hand delivered 
to the tenant. 
 
Monitoring to ensure the reviews are completed in good time 
A report will be run daily to show any reviews not carried out within 28 days of the first alert and 
within 56 days of the first alert.  This report will be sent to each NHO and to team leaders. 
 
This report will be sent when the tenancy is 1548 days old and there is no arrears action OUT1 or 
OUT2 or OUT3, and again when the tenancy is 1576 days old and there is no arrears action OUT1 
or OUT2 or OUT3. 
 
Reminder to send S107D notice 
Where outcome 2 or 3 has occurred, a report will be run daily to remind each NHO of any S107D 
notices that need to be served on their patch.  Where a S107D notice has been served, the 
tenancy will cease to appear on the list. 
 
This report will be sent when the tenancy is 1735 days old and there is no arrears action 1072 or 
1073.  
 
Section 107D notice 
This will be recorded as an arrears action and will generate this document as an editable letter to 
be sent or delivered to the tenant. 
 
This will use arrears action code 1072 for this notice based on outcome 2 and arrears action code 
1073 for this notice based on outcome 3. 
 
Reminder to carry out pre-offer processes 
Where outcome 1 or 2 has occurred, a report will be run daily to remind each NHO of any Right-to-
Rent checks that need to be carried out on their patch.  Where a Right-to-Rent check has been 
completed the tenancy will cease to appear on the list. 
 
This report will be sent when the tenancy is 1795 days old and there is not arrears action RTRC. 
 
Right-to-Rent checks completed 
This will be record by an arrears action to allow monitoring of compete and incomplete cases to be 
monitored. 
This will use arrears action code RTRC. 

Page 56



 APPENDIX 3  

 
Making an offer 
This will be recorded as an arrears action and will generate an editable letter to include the details 
of the offer.  There will be a different letter for offers for Outcome 1 and 2. 
 
This will use arrears action code OFF1 for an offer of a tenancy at the same address (Outcome 1) 
and arrears action code OFF2 for an offer of a tenancy at a different address (Outcome 2). 
 
Ending the existing tenancy 
This will use the existing void notice process, with a void reason selected from: 

 FTR end outcome 1 

 FTR end outcome 2 

 FTR end outcome 3 
 
The property should then be voided down in the usual way. 
 
Starting the new flexible tenancy 
This will require a memo to Rents Admin to create a new tenancy record with a new start date, so 
that the next fixed term tenancy can be monitored for its review in due course. 
 
New flexible tenancies 
A report of all flexible tenancies granted will be produced weekly to show all “renewal” type cases. 
 
This report will include all tenancies with code FV and will show the void reason for ending the 
previous tenancy so that reviewed tenancies can be easily identified. 
 
Master report 
A master report will be generated weekly to show all the activities that are due or completed on a 
fixed term tenancy to provide an overview of caseload. 
 
This report will show all FV tenancies with the date of every arrears action code through the 
sequence of actions. 
  

Page 57



 APPENDIX 3  

Appendix 4 – Orchard User Guide 
 

3.1 Adding an arrears action to record an activity in the fixed term tenancy review process 
 

Arrears Action Code Description Comments 

FTTR Advice letter To be sent before review is 
carried out 

OUT1 Outcome 1 – new tenancy same 
address 

To record outcome 1 & 
generate a letter along with 
the 6-month notice document 

OUT2 Outcome 2 – new tenancy different 
address 

To record outcome 2 & 
generate a letter along with 
the 6-month notice document 

OUT3  Outcome 3 – end tenancy, seek 
possession 

To record outcome 3 & 
generate a letter along with 
the 6-month notice document 

1072 Section 107D notice for Outcome 2 
 

To generate the Section 107D 
notice which is served for 
outcome 2  

1073 Section 107D Notice for Outcome 3 To generate the Section 107D 
notice which is served for 
outcome 3 

RTRC Right to Rent checks completed To confirm that all household 
members over 18 have 
acceptable immigration status 

OFF1 Offer of tenancy at same address To generate an offer letter for 
the same address 

OFF2 Offer of tenancy at different address 
 

To generate an offer letter for 
an alternate address 

 

 Add the arrears action in the usual way 

 Then, Next 
 

 
 
3.2 Editable arrears letters 
 
When you add an arrears action that generates a letter, the letter will appear on screen as an 
editable word document.  You must insert the relevant information into the letter before printing.  
The letter will save to the Documents tab in the first instance. 
 
This form will pop open 
 

Page 58



 APPENDIX 3  

 
 

 Click Next 

 You will see the icon for MSWord start to flash or change colour 
along the task bar 

 

 Click on this icon, and then click again (do NOT double-click) 
 

 This will open the letter in editable mode for you to type in relevant information 

 ONLY when you have typed in all the information you need, you can go back to Orchard and 
click OK or Yes on each of these the messages as they appear: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Your letter will be sent to the printer as a “follow-me” letter as it has not come from Orchard letter 
merge. 
 
3.3 Reports 

Each NHO will receive a report by email in Excel format listing any tenancies where action is 
required.  Team leaders will receive a similar list for any tenancy where an activity has not been 
completed in a suitable timeframe.   
 
[INSERT SCREEN SHOTS OF SAMPLE REPORTS] 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Item No: 8(c) 
For Decision 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
COUNCIL – 9 APRIL 2018 
 

Recommendation from the Cabinet on 3 April 2018:- 
 

116.1 
 

Welwyn Hatfield Business Plan 2018-21 (Forward Plan Reference FP842) 
 
The Cabinet considered the process for creating the Council’s new 
Business Plan for 2018-21. 
 
Over recent months Officers had been working on the Council’s new 
priorities, values and a strapline which were summarised in the Plan on a 
Page. The priorities had been revised to make them easier to present to 
the Council’s communities and more accessible to a wider audience. 
 
The Council’s values had also been reviewed so they were better aligned 
with what was considered to be important when dealing with local 
residents, businesses and partners. 
 
Furthermore, a new strapline, “Working Better, Together” would be 
introduced. 
 
Consultation had also taken place with the Borough Panel which showed 
that 90% of the respondents either “strongly agreed” or “agreed” with the 
Council’s proposed priorities and objectives for the next three years. 
 
The detailed business plan would be finalised over the coming months by 
the Executive Board in consultation with Executive Members. 
 
The Cabinet approved the process and delegated authority to the 
Executive Board to agree and publish the new Business Plan over the 
coming months in consultation with Executive Members and Directors. 
 
The Cabinet approved the Plan on a Page and RECOMMENDS it to go 
forward to the next meeting of the Council. 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 8c



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main authors: Paul Underwood and Thom Burn 
Executive Member: Bernard Sarson 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET – 3 APRIL 2018 
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
CULTURAL SERVICES) 

WELWYN HATFIELD BUSINESS PLAN 2018-21 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to recommend to the Cabinet the process for 
creating the Council’s new Business Plan for 2018-21. 

2 Recommendation 

2.1 Cabinet approves the process set out in this report and delegates authority to the 
Executive Board to agree and publish the new Business Plan over the coming 
months in consultation with Executive Members and Directors. 

2.2 Cabinet approves the Plan on a Page to go forward to the next meeting of the 
Council, as appended to this report. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 The council’s current Business Plan sets out our corporate priorities, objectives, 
vision and values over a three year period to March 2018. It has been supported 
by an annually refreshed Action Plan with measurable targets drawn from across 
all of the council’s services.  

3.2 The new Business Plan, which has undergone consultation and revision over 
recent months, will cover the next three financial years to March 2021. 
Workshops and meetings have been held with Executive Directors and Heads of 
Service to help shape the structure of the new Plan, and to ensure their service 
activities are reflected in its priorities and objectives. 

3.3 A survey among members of the Council’s Borough Panel has also been 
completed, with 61 households taking the opportunity to complete a short online 
survey in which we sought their views on our proposed priorities and objectives. 
An average of 90.3 per cent of all responders either ‘Strongly Agree’ or ‘Agree’ 
with them for the next three years. 27 households have also asked to receive a 
copy of the Business Plan when it is published. 

3.4 Based on the completion of this internal and external consultation over recent 
months, our revised corporate priorities to March 2021 will be: 

1. Our Community. 

2. Our Environment. 

3. Our Housing. 

4. Our Economy 

5. Our Council. 

Page 63



- 2 - 

3.5 These priorities have been shortened from the last iteration of the Business Plan 
to make them easier to present to our communities and more accessible to a 
wider audience. They will also support an agreed vision for the council which is 
‘Working together to keep Welwyn Hatfield a great place to live, work and study 
with a vibrant and growing economy’. We will also introduce a new strapline 
which is ‘Working Better, Together’.  

3.6 The Council’s values have also been reviewed so they are better aligned with 
what we consider to be important when dealing with local residents, businesses 
and partners. They are: 

1. Integrity – we will be honest, clear and consistent in what we do.   

2. Fairness – we will be fair in our policies and in our decision making, and 
listen to the views and feedback we receive.  

3. Transparent – we will be approachable, accountable and open in the way 
we communicate and conduct our business. 

4. Respect – we will have respect for our residents, businesses, partners and 
employees. 

5. Responsive – we will respond to internal and external influences on our 
services by adapting them to meet changing needs. 

6. Innovative – we will evaluate and implement other means of providing our 
services when it leads to greater efficiency without compromising on 
quality. 

These are all shown together on the Plan on a Page. 

3.7 A key organisational change since the Business Plan was last published has 
been the successful reintegration of our housing service having operated it at 
arms-length for a number of years. So there will be much more content relating to 
this in the new Plan. Resources in support of the council’s Economy priority have 
also been enhanced in recent years, and there are upcoming changes in some of 
the council’s major contracts covering environment and leisure services. 

3.8 What is clear is this Council, along with other local authorities, is operating in a 
rapidly changing public sector with new government legislation and regulation 
being introduced; ongoing pressure on our budgets coupled with increasing 
service demands from a growing population; and a need to evaluate and 
implement new ways of maintaining and improving our income while managing 
our costs as central government support reduces.  

3.9 For our communities this means preserving the quality of our core services such 
as household waste and recycling collections; protecting the environment; 
providing a statutory planning service; enabling the construction of new and 
affordable homes for local people; and supporting the delivery of sport and 
leisure services to encourage healthy and active lifestyles. These will all be set 
out clearly in the new Business Plan.  

Implications 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

Page 64



- 3 - 

4.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from the contents of this report. 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from the contents of this report. 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 It is good practice to have a published Business Plan which summarises the 
council’s priorities and objectives. It sets out what we are seeking to achieve in 
the borough, and assists residents and other stakeholders in holding us to 
account for our service performance. 

6.2 Not having a Business Plan and a supporting Action Plan means we are not able 
to effectively monitor and manage our service performance against a set of clear 
priorities and objectives. The Plan is central to the operation of the council’s 
performance management framework, which includes a core suite of key 
performance indicators and the monitoring of strategic and operational risks 
across our services.    

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 There are no direct security and terrorism implications arising from the contents 
of this report. 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 There are no direct procurement implications arising from the contents of this 
report. 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 There are no direct climate change implications arising from the contents of this 
report 

10 Link to Corporate Priorities 

10.1 This report is linked to all of the Council’s corporate priorities as the Business 
Plan sets out the council’s priorities, objectives, vision and values over the next 
three years to March 2021.     

11 Equality and Diversity 

11.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed as the new Plan revises an 
existing one and sets out a framework for the delivery of service-related policies 
at the council. 

           Paul Underwood (01707) 357220  Thom Burn (01707) 357245 
           Head of Policy and Culture   Policy & Comms Manager 
 
           March 2018 
 
Appendix 
 
Business Plan on a Page (2018-21). 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Our Plan on a Page 2018-21

Vision
Our

Our
Priorities

Our
Objectives

Our
Values

To work together to keep Welwyn Hatfield a great place 
to live, work and study in a vibrant and growing economy

Our Community Our Environment Our Housing Our Economy Our Council

Working better, together

www.welhat.gov.uk/businessplan

 Investment & 
Regeneration

 Sustainable Growth

 Neighbourhood & 
Town Centres

 Business Friendly

 Quality Landlord

 Housing Need

 Affordable Homes

 Housing Quality

 Clean Streets

 Waste & Recycling

 Green Spaces

 Parking

 Safe Communities

 Public Health

 Sport & Leisure

 Art & Culture

 Equality & 
Fairness

 Value for Money

 Customer First

 Employer of 
Choice

 Integrity Fairness  Respect

 Transparent Responsive Innovative

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS
	8a Transfer of Building Control Functions to Three Rivers District Council
	8a - Transfer of Building Control

	8b Tenancy Policy and Flexible Tenancy Policy
	8b -Tenancy Policy 2017 Updated Recommendations Report
	8b1 - Tenancy Policy 2012 - Appendix 1
	8b2 - Tenancy Policy 2017 - Tracked Changes
	8b3 - Tenancy Policy Flexible Tenancy Review Procedure - Appendix 3

	8c Welwyn Hatfield Business Plan 2018-21
	8c - Business Plan 2018-21 (Apr 18)
	8c - Business Plan on a Page (WHC) Appendix




